## **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world-wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:			
Kathryn Wyckoff		-	Date

"We're out here getting slaughtered by these abusive people": Perceptions of the effects of COVID-19 movement restrictions among survivors of intimate partner violence

By

Kathryn G. Wyckoff Master of Public Health

Behavioral, Social, and Health Education Sciences

Dabney P. Evans, PhD, MPH Committee Chair

Subasri Narasimhan, PhD, MPH Committee Member

Cam Escoffery, PhD Interim Department Chair "We're out here getting slaughtered by these abusive people": Perceptions of the effects of COVID-19 movement restrictions among survivors of intimate partner violence

By

Kathryn G. Wyckoff

Bachelor of Science University of Georgia 2018

Thesis Committee Chair: Dabney P. Evans, PhD, MPH Thesis Committee: Subasri Narasimhan, PhD, MPH

#### An abstract of

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the
Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University
in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of
Master of Public Health in
Behavioral, Social, and Health Education Sciences
2022

#### Abstract

"We're out here getting slaughtered by these abusive people": Perceptions of the effects of COVID-19 movement restrictions among survivors of intimate partner violence

By Kathryn G. Wyckoff

**Introduction:** Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) poses a severe public health threat globally and within the United States. Preliminary evidence has underscored surges in IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic. The purpose of this study was to understand the effects of COVID-19, including the impacts of movement restrictions (i.e., shelter in place orders, quarantine, isolation orders) on experiences of IPV from the perspective of survivors.

**Methods:** In-depth interviews were conducted with nine survivors who presented at a large, Atlanta-based public hospital or sought IPV community resources (i.e., domestic violence shelter, therapy services) between March 2020 and December 2020. Thematic analysis was carried out to describe the impact of COVID-19 movement restrictions on IPV and help-seeking behaviors among survivors, in addition to identifying resources to improve IPV response during pandemics.

**Results:** Survivors cited relationship challenges that were amplified by either movement restrictions or consequences of COVID-19, including substance use, reinforced control tactics in relationships, and increased financial or life stressors resulting from the pandemic. COVID-19 movement restrictions catalyzed new relationships quickly and sparked new or intensified violence in existing relationships, and unveiled holes in IPV support services.

**Conclusions:** Taken as a whole, these findings suggest COVID-19 movement restrictions and social distancing measures amplify IPV, experiences of trauma, and survivors' subsequent help-seeking experiences. Findings along with recommendations can be used for IPV response during pandemics and inform future pandemic preparedness.

"We're out here getting slaughtered by these abusive people": Perceptions of the effects of COVID-19 movement restrictions among survivors of intimate partner violence

By

Kathryn G. Wyckoff

Bachelor of Science University of Georgia 2018

Thesis Committee Chair: Dabney P. Evans, PhD, MPH Thesis Committee: Subasri Narasimhan, PhD, MPH

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the
Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of
Master of Public Health in
Behavioral, Social, and Health Education Sciences
2022

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to first acknowledge and extend my immense gratitude to the survivors who took time to share their experiences with me while enduring a global pandemic and facing the repercussions of intimate partner violence. Their experiences and bravery in the face of violence during an unprecedented public health crisis fuel my passion to continue this work and amplify their voices. I am immensely grateful to these survivors for openly discussing their traumatic experiences and playing a role in bettering our society's response to intimate partner violence.

Funding for this project was made possible by the Woodruff Health Sciences Center. I am grateful for their support of this research and other impactful public health research.

To my fantastic research team, I am honored to work with such intelligent and inspiring women. My thesis committee chair and mentor, Dabney P. Evans, provided me with an unlimited supply of support, expertise, and feedback during the drafting of this thesis. I also want to extend my immense gratitude to my thesis committee member, Subasri Narasimhan. Thank you, Suba, for allowing me to shadow you during interviews, for teaching me how to practice trauma-informed, culturally sensitive interviewing, and for all your support and feedback on my analysis. I would also like to extend gratitude to the larger research team: Carrie Ripkey, Nicole Gonzalez, Kaylee Stephenson, Randi Smith, and Amy Zeidan. It is because of public health professionals such as these women that I am driven to continue working in this field.

Finally, I want to extend my gratitude to my family and friends. Their constant support during this process was invaluable. A special thank you to my mother, Cheryl Wyckoff, father, Kevin Wyckoff, and sister, Caroline Wyckoff for their unwavering support throughout all my academic and professional endeavors. I also want to thank my late grandmother, Joyce Wyckoff, who was a big proponent of my education and inspiration for my academic pursuits.

# **Demonstrated Competencies**

# MPH/MSPH Foundational Competencies

- 2. Select quantitative and qualitative data collection methods appropriate for a given public health context.
- 3. Analyze quantitative and qualitative data using biostatistics, informatics, computer-based programming and software as appropriate.
- 4. Interpret results of data analysis for public health research, policy or practice.

# **BSHES** Competencies

- 3. Select study designs to plan health promotion research.
- 8. Apply qualitative or quantitative methods in public health research or practice.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Problem Statement	1
Purpose Statement	4
Research Objective and Aims	4
Significance Statement	5
Chapter 2: Literature Review	7
Intimate Partner Violence	7
Risk Factors for IPV Victimization	8
IPV Injury, Morbidity and Mortality	9
IPV and Natural Disasters	12
IPV and Humanitarian Emergencies	12
IPV and COVID-19	
The Current State of COVID-19 Research	14
Conclusion and Significance	17
Chapter 3: Student Contribution	19
Chapter 4: Manuscript	23
Introduction	
Methods	34
Results  Theme 1: COVID-19 impacts paved the way for relationship challenges catalyzing violents	
Theme 2: COVID-19 movement restrictions catalyzed new relationships quickly and spar intensified violence in existing relationships	
Theme 3: IPV help-seeking during COVID unveiled holes in support services	52
Discussion	55
Limitations	60
Conclusions	61
Chapter 5: Public Health Implications	64
Implications	64
Recommendations	67
References	70

<b>List of Tables</b>	List	of	<b>Table</b>	es
-----------------------	------	----	--------------	----

Table 1. Survivor Demographic Information	
---	--

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### **Problem Statement**

Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) poses a severe public health threat globally and within the United States (U.S.). According to the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) National Center for Injury Prevention and Control (NCIPC), IPV constitutes any physical violence, sexual violence, stalking, psychological aggression, or coercive control tactics enacted by current or previous intimate partners (Breiding et al., 2015). The term 'intimate partner' encompasses any spouses, boyfriends, girlfriends, dating partners, or ongoing sexual partners (Breiding et al., 2015). The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS), an ongoing, nationally representative survey conducted by the CDC, estimates one in three women and one and three men have experienced IPV in their lifetime (Smith et al., 2018). Adverse consequences stemming from experiences of IPV include fear, safety concerns, injury, medical care needs, the need for law enforcement intervention, missed days of work or school, housing needs, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), sexually transmitted infections, and unstable housing (Smith et al., 2018). Moreover, economic costs associated with IPV are consistently documented in empirical literature, further reinforcing the economic toll of IPV on society. A 2018 study examining the economic burden of IPV among U.S. adults revealed over \$3.6 trillion in costs for all IPV survivors, \$2.1 trillion of which accounted for medical costs, \$1.3 trillion in lost productivity among perpetrators and survivors, \$73 billion in criminal justice activities, and \$62 billion in other costs (Peterson et al., 2018). While IPV is pervasive across the U.S., the prevalence of IPV in the state of Georgia was reported as 35.1% for women and 39.9% for men in 2010 (Black et al., 2011). The high prevalence of IPV in Georgia predates the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic.

COVID-19, a disease caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus, was first discovered in Wuhan, China in December 2019 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021a). The virus is highly contagious and has since quickly spread across the world (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021a). As of December 2021, there were over 53,795,407 cases of COVID-19 in the U.S. resulting in over 800,000 deaths (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021b). The first case of COVID-19 in Georgia was documented on March 2, 2020 (Georgia Department of Public Health, 2021). Of the five Georgia counties with the highest prevalence of COVID-19 cases, hospitalizations, and total deaths, two include counties within the Metropolitan Atlanta area: Fulton County and Dekalb County (Georgia Department of Public Health, 2021).

On March 14, 2020, Georgia Governor Brian Kemp issued Executive Order No. 03.14.20.01 (2020), which declared a Public Health State of Emergency in Georgia and called for the enactment of social distancing measures. On behalf of the City of Atlanta, Mayor Keisha Lance Bottoms issued Executive Order No. 2020-21 (2020) on March 23, 2020, thereby enacting a citywide shelter in place order. The following week, Governor Kemp issued Executive Order 04.02.20.01 (2020) on April 2, 2020, enacting a statewide shelter in place order. In compliance with these orders, residents were instructed to stay in their homes, leaving only to carry out essential business, during which they were advised to practice social distancing measures. Although these movement restrictions and other infection control methods (i.e., isolation, quarantine orders) have proven successful in reducing the spread of COVID-19, their impacts on IPV had not at the time been thoroughly investigated (D. P. Evans, 2020).

Since the beginning of the pandemic, cross-sectional and anecdotal evidence have documented surges in IPV and IPV help-seeking among survivors worldwide (Davis et al., 2020; D. P. Evans et al., 2020; Leslie & Wilson, 2020; McCrary & Sanga, 2021; McLay, 2021; Mohler et al., 2020;

Piquero et al., 2020). A broad range of research examining COVID-19 and IPV has emerged in the past two years with several systematic reviews pointing to increases in IPV and domestic violence (DV), especially during lockdown and social distancing periods (Bazyar et al., 2021; Kourti et al., 2021; Lausi et al., 2021). Mass media channels have also highlighted several commentaries and reports on IPV and DV as they pertain to COVID-19 and movement restrictions (Kelley, 2020; Kelly, 2021; Mak, 2020; Taub, 2020). Despite the intention to mitigate the negative effects of COVID-19, movement restrictions (i.e., shelter-in-place orders, school closures, curfews) effectively trap survivors with their abusers by creating isolating environments and exacerbating coercive control tactics (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Rieger et al., 2021; Sower & Alexander, 2021). Research bolstering surges of IPV prevalence in Atlanta, Georgia compared 2018 to 2020 crime data from the Atlanta Police Department, indicating cumulative increases in 2020 DV crimes compared to the previous two years (D. P. Evans et al., 2020). These findings are particularly pertinent, as the current study takes place in Atlanta, Georgia. Significantly, the broader impacts of the pandemic, movement restrictions, and IPV remain largely uninvestigated. Up until now, no study has examined IPV survivors' perceptions of COVID-19 movement restrictions (i.e., shelter-in-place, quarantine, isolation orders) and their effects on traumatic injury and help-seeking behaviors. A recent study assessing survivor safety and safety planning from the perspectives of victim service agency staff found IPV and sexual violence experiences were more severe or escalated, perpetrators used public health guidance to increase control or isolate survivors, and victim services needed to adapt safety planning and resource provision due to pandemic disruptions (Schrag et al., 2021). Additionally, IPV research conducted prior to the pandemic suggests barriers to IPV help-seeking stem from financial challenges, lack of insurance, time constraints, lack of knowledge about IPV resources, lack of

childcare or transportation, perpetrator prevention of help-seeking, isolation from social or family networks, as well as perceived stigma associated with IPV (Fugate et al., 2005).

Collectively, these findings reinforce the need to conduct a study focusing on the perspectives and experiences of IPV survivors regarding COVID-19 movement restrictions and their impacts on traumatic injury and help-seeking behaviors.

Prior research underscores the high prevalence of IPV in Georgia (Black et al., 2011), in addition to its rankings as one of the states with higher rates at which women are killed by men (Georgia Coalition Against Domestic Violence, 2020). Moreover, cumulative increases in 2020 DV crimes in Atlanta compared to the previous two years highlight surges of IPV during the pandemic (D. P. Evans et al., 2020). As two counties within the Atlanta area contain the highest prevalence of COVID-19 cases, hospitalizations, and total deaths for the state (Georgia Department of Public Health, 2021), Atlanta, Georgia provides an ideal context in which to examine the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on IPV from the perspective of survivors.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this study was to understand the impacts of COVID-19, including the impacts of movement restrictions (i.e., shelter in place orders, quarantine, isolation orders), on experiences of IPV from the perspective of survivors. Exploring this unique perspective provides necessary context to existing evidence.

#### **Research Objective and Aims**

The objective of this study was to understand the impacts of COVID-19 and movement restrictions on IPV experiences from the perspective of survivors in Atlanta, Georgia.

The aims of this study were to:

- Aim 1: Explain survivors' perceptions of IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic;
- Aim 2: Identify risk factors for experiencing IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic;
- Aim 3: Identify facilitators and barriers to seeking IPV resources during COVID-19;
- Aim 4: Understand changes in IPV experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic compared to before the pandemic; and
- Aim 5: Identify resources and supports to help and/or better respond to IPV during pandemics.

#### **Significance Statement**

As movement restrictions and social distancing practices lift, the long-term effects of IPV during COVID-19 are still unidentified. Although preliminary anecdotal and empirical data indicate increases in the prevalence of IPV during the pandemic, gaps remain in understanding the overarching impacts of quarantining and movement restrictions on IPV. More research is warranted to assist pandemic response through examination of health, economic, and other invisible impacts of IPV. As most available data come from social media, the internet, anecdotal evidence, helpline reports, and interviews with healthcare providers (HCPs) (Viero et al., 2021), the current study aims to address the gap of qualitative in-depth interviews with survivors of IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic. Up until now, no study has examined IPV survivors' perceptions of COVID-19 movement restrictions (i.e., shelter-in-place, quarantine, isolation orders) and their effects on traumatic injury and help-seeking behaviors. As the pandemic continues to threaten public health and safety, findings from this study can be leveraged to inform IPV response during this and other public health emergencies. Moreover, findings can also be used to inform future pandemic preparedness and response among IPV and public health

resources in Atlanta and the state of Georgia. The methods carried out in this study can be adapted for future research carried out in other areas of Georgia or the broader U.S. pertaining to IPV experiences during COVID-19 and perceptions of IPV survivors.

It is crucial to investigate survivors' experiences of IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic, as movement restrictions and other infection control techniques may exacerbate experiences and impacts of IPV compared to IPV experiences prior to the pandemic. Documenting and comprehending survivors' experiences and perceptions offers a means to explore the connection between COVID-19 and IPV. Such an understanding may result in improved IPV prevention and response tactics implemented during this pandemic, as well as future health emergencies.

## **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

In order to explore IPV survivors' perceptions and experiences of COVID-19 and movement restrictions, a thorough review of IPV experiences during humanitarian emergencies, natural disasters, and other pandemics is essential. Additionally, examination of the social determinants contributing to experiences of IPV outside of and during health emergencies is crucial.

#### **Intimate Partner Violence**

Intimate Partner Violence (IPV), referring to the emotional, physical, and/or sexual violence tactics by current or previous intimate partners, impacts a diverse array of individuals worldwide (Breiding et al., 2015). While IPV affects all types of individuals, global IPV estimates suggest a higher prevalence of women experience IPV in their lifetimes, with up to 753 million evermarried women over the age of 15 experiencing IPV (Garcia-Moreno et al., 2021). According to the 2015 National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (S. Smith et al., 2018), 43.6 million women and 37.3 million men in the United States reported experiences of rape, violence or stalking by an intimate partner in their lifetime. Moreover, data suggest higher rates of non-Hispanic Black, American Indian or Alaska Native, and multi-racial non-Hispanic women and men experience IPV in their lifetime, suggesting disproportionate rates of IPV among Black, Indigenous, People of Color (BIPOC) (Black et al., 2011). Although North American data suggest associations between racial or minority group membership and IPV, underlying differences in education and income support these associations (Dearwater et al., 1998; Jewkes, 2002; Snow Jones et al., 1999). Of the 80,921,000 men and women estimated nationally to have experienced IPV in their lifetime (S. Smith et al., 2018), 14.5 million estimated lifetime survivors reside in the state of Georgia where this study takes place (Black et al., 2011). It is pertinent to note uniform and comparable national and state-level data for IPV are lacking (Black et al., 2011). Additionally, due to the stigma and sensitivity surrounding data collection involving IPV survivors, data are likely underestimates of actual IPV prevalence and often do not capture sexual orientation or perpetrator gender identities (Alfaro Quezada et al., 2020; Black et al., 2011; Breiding et al., 2014; Khurana & Loder, 2021). While IPV manifests in overt forms of physical, sexual, and emotional violence, it is important to note most IPV often starts with less visible forms of violence on behalf of perpetrators, such as surveillance and controlling behaviors through limiting time with social connections, public humiliation and shaming, blocking electronic communication streams, and spreading rumors (Park & Jeon, 2021). These "invisible" IPV tactics and their impacts are equally as crucial to investigate, as they contribute to negative short-, mid-, and long-term outcomes. The stigma and sensitivity of IPV often plays a role in help-seeking behaviors of survivors. Despite more than 35% of women and 28% men in the U.S. experiencing IPV in their lifetime (Black et al., 2011), a majority of cases go unreported (Gracia, 2004). The COVID-19 pandemic offers a unique context, with many states and countries enacting movement-restrictions (i.e., shelter-in-place orders) that may exacerbate reported and unreported instances of IPV. Specifically, public health measures restricting movement reinforce and socially legitimize isolation and coercive control tactics enacted by perpetrators of abuse. Therefore, the perspectives of IPV survivors who sought healthcare or resources pertaining to their relationship during COVID-19 are necessary to provide insight into the pandemic's impact on IPV and help-seeking behaviors.

#### **Risk Factors for IPV Victimization**

A variety of characteristics have been identified as placing individuals at a higher risk for IPV victimization, including community and financial stress, minority group membership, adolescence and young adulthood, unemployment, low income, exposure to IPV or family

violence as a child, and child abuse (Capaldi et al., 2012; Lipsky et al., 2005; Schafer et al., 2004; World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010). Other established risk factors for IPV victimization include partner alcohol or use (Lipsky et al., 2005; Schafer et al., 2004; World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010), separated or divorced marital status (World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010), lower educational attainment (Breiding et al., 2008; World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010), poverty (World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010), mental disorders (i.e., depression) (World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010), as well as adherence to traditional gender and social norms that reinforce violence (World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010). Understanding such risk factors allows researchers and practitioners to identify and tailor prevention strategies.

#### **IPV Injury, Morbidity and Mortality**

Data from the 2010 National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey indicate the most predominant form of IPV is physical violence, with 14.8% of women and 4% of men reporting sustained injuries due to IPV (Black et al., 2011). Additionally, several data sources suggest survivors of IPV have higher rates of unmet health needs despite accessing health care services more frequently and accumulating higher medical expenses (Bergman & Brismar, 1991; Plichta, 2007; Wisner et al., 1999). The Nationwide Emergency Department Database revealed 132,806 IPV-related ED visits across the United States between 2010 and 2014, resulting in combined medical costs of \$395 million (Alfaro Quezada et al., 2020). Multiple studies on injury patterns and demographics of individuals presenting to EDs across the country indicate a higher

prevalence of presenting female survivors (Alfaro Quezada et al., 2020; Davidov et al., 2015; Khurana & Loder, 2021; Loder & Momper, 2020). Patient profiles indicate a majority of IPV survivors presenting to EDs relied on Medicaid and self-pay methods (Alfaro Quezada et al., 2020; Davidov et al., 2015). While higher numbers of individuals report experiencing IPV for the first time prior to age 25 (Black et al., 2011; S. Smith et al., 2018), IPV is also significant among older patients presenting to EDs, with older, male patients sustaining more and higher severity injuries requiring hospitalization on average compared to female survivors presenting to EDs (Alfaro Quezada et al., 2020; Khurana & Loder, 2021). Documented injury profiles of IPV survivors presenting the EDs also suggest patients commonly present with contusions or abrasions, lacerations, strains or sprains, internal organ injuries, and fractures (Alfaro Quezada et al., 2020; Davidov et al., 2015; Khurana & Loder, 2021; Loder & Momper, 2020).

In conjunction with physical injuries sustained, IPV has been associated with a plethora of negative health outcomes, including depression (Beydoun et al., 2016; Devries et al., 2013; Golding, 1999; Mazza et al., 2021), anxiety (Beydoun et al., 2016; Black et al., 2011), post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Black et al., 2011; Dutton et al., 2006; Golding, 1999; Mazza et al., 2021), suicidal behaviors (Beydoun et al., 2016; Black et al., 2011; Devries et al., 2013; Golding, 1999; Mazza et al., 2021), alcohol and drug misuse (Beydoun et al., 2016; Golding, 1999; Mazza et al., 2021), sexual problems (Mazza et al., 2021), concentration issues (Mazza et al., 2021), somatization (Mazza et al., 2021), social issues (Mazza et al., 2021), educational challenges (Mazza et al., 2021), feelings of guilt or blame (Mazza et al., 2021; Reich et al., 2014; Ross & Foster, 2012), chronic pain (Black et al., 2011; Mazza et al., 2021), gastrointestinal issues (Black et al., 2011; Mazza et al., 2021), traumatic brain injuries (TBIs) (Mazza et al., 2021; Stene

et al., 2013; E. N. Wright et al., 2018). Additionally, "invisible" forms of violence stemming from IPV negatively influence help-seeking behaviors and decrease opportunities for survivors to seek social support (Park & Jeon, 2021). In addition to the negative mental health outcomes associated with IPV, prior cross-sectional and case-control studies document the risk of IPV victimization among individuals with pre-existing mental health disorders (i.e., depression, anxiety, PTSD) (Khalifeh et al., 2015; Trevillion et al., 2012).

IPV can also precede mortality outcomes, such as homicide, suicide, among other violent fatalities. The phenomenon of intimate partner homicide (IPH) refers to fatal violent attacks committed by intimate partners (S. G. Smith et al., 2014). More than half of female victims of homicide in the U.S. are killed by IPH, with the top three mechanisms of injury being firearms, sharp instruments, and hanging, strangulation or suffocation (Petrosky et al., 2020). According to the National Violent Death Reporting System (NVDRS), young women belonging to racial or ethnic minority groups experience the highest rates of IPH (Petrosky et al., 2017). Another IPV homicide phenomenon occurs when family members, friends or new intimate partners, known as corollary victims, are killed by perpetrators (S. G. Smith et al., 2014). Significantly, one in every four IPH victims result in additional corollary victims, of which 76.4% are male family members or new intimate partners (S. G. Smith et al., 2014). Perpetrators of IPH may also die by suicide following the homicide event, with males making up 95-97% of perpetrators (Zeppegno et al., 2019). Additionally, IPV victimization may also precede suicide, with recent data from the U.S. establishing associations between heterosexual women experiencing physical IPV and selfreported suicidal ideation (Afifi et al., 2008). Lastly, NVDRS data suggest approximately one in seven legal intervention fatalities are linked to IPV, referring to deaths by active-duty law enforcement officers during IPV incidents (DeGue et al., 2016).

#### **IPV and Natural Disasters**

Research conducted over the last 20 years has consistently documented the impacts of natural disasters on experiences of IPV and domestic violence (DV) (Bell & Folkerth, 2016; Clemens et al., 1999; Lauve-Moon & Ferreira, 2017; Weitzman & Behrman, 2016). A scoping review of natural disaster and IPV-related studies conducted between 2000 and 2015 demonstrated increases in PTSD and poor mental health symptoms consistently follow natural disasters (Bell & Folkerth, 2016). Case-control and cross-sectional research on the Deep Horizon oil spill, the 2010 Haiti earthquake, Hurricane Katrina, and the 1997 Grand Forks flood found increased prevalence of IPV and DV following exposure to devastation from natural disasters (Clemens et al., 1999; Harville et al., 2010; Lauve-Moon & Ferreira, 2017; Schumacher et al., n.d.; Weitzman & Behrman, 2016). In addition, factors such as decreased social support, finances, and displacement accompanied increases in IPV and DV (Clemens et al., 1999; Schumacher et al., n.d.; Weitzman & Behrman, 2016). Due to the reduced or limited availability of IPV resources during and following natural disasters, help-seeking behaviors of IPV survivors may be compromised due to decreased social support, displacement, and financial stress.

#### **IPV** and Humanitarian Emergencies

In humanitarian emergency settings, higher rates of interpersonal violence occurring inside the home compared to outside the home have been observed (Falb et al., 2013; Khawaja & Barazi, 2005; Stark & Ager, 2011; Wako et al., 2015). Specifically, cross-sectional research conducted across different refugee camps found associations between conflict victimization and increased odds of experiencing IPV (Falb et al., 2013; Wako et al., 2015). In the context of humanitarian emergency planning, higher rates of IPV compared to violence occurring outside the home underscore the importance of incorporating strategies for more uniform, consistent reporting of

IPV in addition to resources targeted toward individuals experiencing violence in the home (Stark & Ager, 2011).

Of notable comparison to the COVID-19 pandemic is the 2013-2015 epidemic of Ebola Virus Disease (EVD) across Guinea, Liberia, and Sierra Leone. An Ebola assessment examining the impact of EVD on men and women, found 22.9% of 1,562 respondents reported cases of genderbased violence occurring during the peak of the epidemic (Korkoyah & Wreh, 2015). Through a mixture of desk reviews, in-depth interviews, and focus group discussions, the United Nations Development Program found disparities between official reports of sexual and gender-based violence (SGBV) and qualitative accounts of experiences of IPV in Eastern Sierra Leone (United Nations Development Programme, 2015). Specifically, while official reporting channels (i.e., medical providers, community service organizations, criminal justice entities) saw decreases in recorded SGBV cases, in-depth interviews and focus group discussions indicated increases in DV during the epidemic (United Nations Development Programme, 2015). Existing literature on EVD also indicate movement restrictions (i.e., school closures, curfews), negative economic impacts (i.e., unemployment), and decreased access to social services due to redirection of resources to EVD mitigation further exacerbated pre-existing SGBV disparities (Korkoyah & Wreh, 2015; United Nations Development Programme, 2015).

#### **IPV and COVID-19**

While a broad range of research examining COVID-19 and IPV has emerged in the past year, several systematic reviews point to increases in IPV and DV, especially during lockdown and social distancing periods (Bazyar et al., 2021; Kourti et al., 2021; Lausi et al., 2021). Despite the intention to mitigate the negative effects of COVID-19, movement restrictions (i.e., shelter-in-place orders, school closures, curfews) effectively trap survivors with their abusers by creating

isolating environments and exacerbating coercive control tactics (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Rieger et al., 2021; Sower & Alexander, 2021). Notably, a majority of emerging literature is cross-sectional or anecdotal in nature, underscoring the need for more incidence data and research on IPV risk factors during COVID-19 (D. P. Evans, 2020).

#### Mass Media Reports

Since the beginning of the pandemic, mass media has released several commentaries and reports on IPV and DV as they pertain to COVID-19 and movement restrictions. *BBC News* reported on the average of 13,162 calls and messages received per day by Refuge's National Domestic Abuse helpline between April 2020 and February 2021, citing a 7% increase in DV reports to England and Wales police (Kelly, 2021). Similarly, *The Diplomat* noted an increase from 47 reported DV cases in Hubei, China to 162 reported DV cases in 2020 (Mak, 2020). *The New York Times* also highlighted the 18% increase in calls Spain's DV hotline experienced during the first two weeks of lockdown compared to the month prior, in addition to the 30% increase in DV according to the French police (Taub, 2020). Although media reported increases in DV or calls to DV helplines at the beginning of the pandemic, *The New York Times* provided commentary on the drop off of calls to helplines as lockdown continued into the summer of 2020, shedding light on the difficulties concerning help-seeking that DV survivors faced during lockdown (Kelley, 2020).

## The Current State of COVID-19 Research

According to a systematic review of cross-sectional and cohort studies conducted on DV during the COVID-19 pandemic, a majority of violence trends were examined in North America (i.e., United States, Canada), followed by Europe (i.e., United Kingdom, Germany, Switzerland, Spain), Australia and New Zealand, and Africa (i.e., South Africa, Ghana) (Kourti et al., 2021).

Across the United States, cross-sectional research suggests increases in DV reports during perpetrator working hours (McCrary & Sanga, 2021), increases in calls to DV service organizations during the 12-week lockdown period beginning in March 2020 (Leslie & Wilson, 2020), increases in DV reports through the Dallas, Texas Police Department during the first two weeks of lockdown (Piquero et al., 2020), an absence of increases in reported DV assaults despite increases in calls to DV service organizations (Mohler et al., 2020), decreases in reported DV cases across Chicago, IL in March 2020 compared to 2019 (McLay, 2021), in addition to increased odds of experiencing IPV among those with COVID-19 symptoms or diagnosis (Davis et al., 2020). Of note, crime data analyzed from the Atlanta Police Department revealed increases in domestic crimes during 2020 compared to the previous two years, suggesting increases in domestic violence (D. P. Evans et al., 2020). These findings are particularly pertinent, as the current study takes place in Atlanta, Georgia.

In conjunction with research on IPV and DV prevalence during COVID-19, much cross-sectional research has been dedicated to exploring risk factors and adverse outcomes associated with experiencing IPV or DV during the pandemic. Results of cross-sectional research examining U.S. ED visits for mental health, overdose, and violence outcomes between 2018 and 2020 noted increases in visits pertaining to IPV during the lockdown period compared to previous years, indicating the severity of violence warranted breaking movement restrictions and navigating health risks of COVID-19 (Holland et al., 2021). Researchers in Spain also found lockdown and economic stress factors significantly contributed to increases in IPV, suggesting lifted movement restrictions will not decrease IPV and DV due to continued economic stress fueled by the pandemic (Bazyar et al., 2021). In the same vein, several cross-sectional studies indicate unemployment, economic stress, poor mental health and decreased social support

increase the likelihood of experiencing violence in the home (Arenas-Arroyo et al., 2021; Jetelina et al., 2021; Lausi et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021).

Recent studies have also explored adverse mental health outcomes related to movement restrictions. A large cross-sectional study in the United Kingdom (U.K.) found higher levels of anxiety and depression during the initial COVID-19 lockdown period (L. Wright et al., 2020). Moreover, another large cross-sectional U.K. study found significant relationships between experiences of previous physical and/or psychological abuse, pre-existing mental health issues, decreased social support, and low socioeconomic status and the onset of depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 lockdown period between March and April 2020 (Frank et al., 2020). Qualitative studies using semi-structured in-depth interviews were conducted with female IPV survivors accessing shelter or IPV service agency resources in the Southwestern United States (Ravi et al., 2021), female immigrant IPV survivors in the United States (Sabri et al., 2020), female IPV survivors residing in domestic violence shelters in South Africa (Dekel & Abrahams, 2021), as well as female IPV survivors residing in Mumbai, India (Huq et al., 2021). Evidence from this preliminary qualitative research suggest COVID-19 increased individual stressors, such as financial stress or unemployment (Dekel & Abrahams, 2021; Huq et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021; Sabri et al., 2020), mental health complications (Huq et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021; Sabri et al., 2020), household work and caregiving burdens (Dekel & Abrahams, 2021; Huq et al., 2021; Sabri et al., 2020), as well as increased severity and incidences of IPV associated with increased alcohol consumption (Hug et al., 2021), control tactics (i.e., partner isolation, control of movements, monitoring) (Dekel & Abrahams, 2021; Huq et al., 2021; Sabri et al., 2020), and confinement within the home (Dekel & Abrahams, 2021; Huq et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021; Sabri et al., 2020). Additionally, data from survivors engaged with shelters and IPV service

agencies suggest a lack of support from shelters during COVID-19, in addition to exacerbated feelings of isolation stemming from a combination of strict shelter rules and stay-at-home orders that mirror control or isolation tactics enacted by abusive partners (Ravi et al., 2021).

Anecdotal evidence and commentaries have also emerged amidst COVID-19 and preliminary findings concerning IPV. Notably, they highlight pre-existing disparities exacerbated by the pandemic, such as economic instability, unsafe housing, neighborhood violence, and low social support (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Ravi et al., 2021; Rieger et al., 2021; Sower & Alexander, 2021). They also explore potential explanations for decreases in help-seeking behaviors or calls to crisis lines due to lack of safety in connecting with resources due to sheltering in place with perpetrators of IPV (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Sower & Alexander, 2021; Zero & Geary, 2020). Diminished IPV resources and shelters with reduced capacity, overburdened hospitals and HCPs, reduced social support (i.e., family, friends), as well as limited or reduced capacity law enforcement means (i.e., protective orders) leave survivors of IPV at a particularly vulnerable place (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Sower & Alexander, 2021; Zero & Geary, 2020). Thus, more research into the relationship between movement restrictions, help-seeking behaviors, and IPV during COVID-19 is necessary to inform future pandemic response and address what has been referred to as a "shadow pandemic" (UN Women, n.d.).

## **Conclusion and Significance**

As movement restrictions and social distancing practices lift, the long-term effects of IPV during COVID-19 are still unidentified. Although preliminary anecdotal and empirical data indicate increases in the prevalence of IPV during the pandemic, gaps remain in understanding the overarching impacts of quarantining and movement restrictions on IPV. Moreover, research conducted prior to the pandemic suggest barriers to IPV help-seeking stem from financial

challenges, lack of insurance, time constraints, lack of knowledge about IPV resources, lack of childcare or transportation, perpetrator prevention of help-seeking, isolation from social or family networks, as well as perceived stigma associated with IPV (Fugate et al., 2005). As such, pre-COVID barriers to IPV help-seeking appear to have been exacerbated by the pandemic (Schrag et al., 2021). More research is warranted to assist pandemic response through examination of health, economic, and other invisible impacts of IPV. As most available data come from social media, the internet, anecdotal evidence, helpline reports, interviews with HCPs (Viero et al., 2021), and interviews with victim service agency staff (Schrag et al., 2021), the current study aims to address the gap of qualitative in-depth interviews with survivors of IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic. Up until now, no study has examined IPV survivors' perceptions of COVID-19 movement restrictions (i.e., shelter-in-place, quarantine, isolation orders) and their effects on traumatic injury and help-seeking behaviors. The current study aims to address this specific gap.

#### **Chapter 3: Student Contribution**

This thematic analysis was conceptualized in tandem with Dr. Dabney P. Evans. In Fall 2020, my first academic semester at the Rollins School of Public Health, I joined Dr. Evans' multidisciplinary research team conducting research on the impacts of COVID-19 on intimate partner violence (IPV) in Atlanta, Georgia. The aims of the parent study were to: (1) Determine the incidence of traumatic injury, specifically IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic (March-June 2020) as compared to the incidence in the prior calendar year (March-June 2019), using natural language processing analysis, (2) Identify contextual factors related to the occurrence of traumatic injury and IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic through a detailed chart review, and (3) Describe the effects of COVID-19 related movement restrictions on experiences of trauma as a result of IPV including health seeking behaviors through in-depth interviews with IPV survivors and health care providers. My role and thesis work from this project was related to Aim 3.

As a member of the research team, I helped develop in-depth interview guides for survivors, recruit and schedule interviews for healthcare providers and survivors, take field notes and facilitate survivor interviews, quality check survivor interview transcriptions, as well as carry out the analysis with survivor data. For the purposes of this thesis, secondary analysis was conducted with survivor data collected for the study, while Aim 3 of the parent study will combine analysis results from healthcare providers and survivors.

Survivor data collection occurred from April 2021 through November 2021. Despite data collection occurring at a single time point, the study examined IPV survivors' perceptions and experiences prior to and during the COVID-19 pandemic due to inclusion criteria of participants.

Potential issues of recall biases were mitigated by incorporating time frames into the interview guide for participants to focus their responses.

Following pilot testing, I, along with another team member, conducted nine in-depth interviews with IPV survivors, five with survivors recruited from the Grady Memorial Hospital Trauma Registry and four with community survivors who sought resources for IPV. A member of the research team was also present for each interview to take field notes. Interviews were conducted and recorded remotely via Zoom and lasted between 60 and 120 minutes. Following each interview, verbatim transcripts were produced using Happy Scribe (Happy Scribe, n.d.), which were quality checked and deidentified by myself and another member of the research team. Data management and analysis were carried out using MAXQDA Analytics Pro 2022 (VERBI Software, 2021).

Thematic analysis was selected as the analysis framework. Thematic analysis refers to "the method for identifying, analyzing, and reporting patterns (themes) within data" (Braun & Clarke, 2006). For this project, the phases of thematic analysis identified by Braun and Clarke (2006) were employed. These phases include data familiarization, creating initial codes, searching for themes, reviewing themes, defining themes, and creating a final report (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

In order advance data familiarization, thorough review of all transcripts was completed.

Throughout the course data orientation and subsequent analysis, the process of memoing, writing annotations or comments, was employed to keep an audit trail of analytical decisions, notes, methods employed, and develop final themes.

Prior to the identification of codes, I reoriented myself to the original research goals: Describe the impact of COVID-19-related movement restrictions on the experiences of trauma resulting

from IPV, including health or help-seeking behaviors. During the code identification process, I developed codes inductively based off questions from the IDI guides, IPV literature, data familiarization and preliminary memoing. Several initial codes came from breaking the research question down into smaller pieces and some of the examples brainstormed during initial codebook discussions with the larger research team. Examples of deductive codes include "COVID-19 insights," "COVID relationship challenges," "IPV classification," and "Negative help-seeking experiences." This method aligns with Bazeley's (2021) approach to organizing code structures based on conceptual similarities, while also ensuring that each concept only appeared in the code structure one time. I also developed inductive codes based off recurring topics from interviews. Examples of inductive codes include "Financial control," "First-time relationship violence," and "Substance use."

Following coding of the first transcript, additional inductive codes were added, and the final codebook underwent review by the larger research team. I then used the finalized codebook to recode the first transcript and subsequent eight transcripts. After coding was completed, I employed a variety of methods throughout primary data analysis and theme development. These methods include memoing, case summaries, reflections, matrices, as well as comparisons across data. Finally, I ran descriptive statistics on quantitative data using Qualtrics and Excel.

In November 2020, the larger research team was given the opportunity to present preliminary study findings at the Georgia Commission on Family Violence annual conference. This opportunity allowed us to disseminate findings and helped me adhere to thesis submission timelines.

Following thesis defense, I plan to submit the manuscript to a special issue of BMC Public Health focused on IPV and COVID (BioMed Central, n.d.-b). This decision was made when my

thesis committee shared an opportunity to submit the manuscript for the journal's upcoming special collection on the COVID-19 pandemic and intimate partner violence. As such, the manuscript formatting adheres to the manuscript submission guidelines outlined by BMC Public Health (BioMed Central, n.d.-a).

#### **Chapter 4: Manuscript**

"We're out here getting slaughtered by these abusive people": Perceptions of the effects of COVID-19 movement restrictions among survivors of intimate partner violence

By Kathryn G. Wyckoff

**Abstract:** Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) poses a severe public health threat globally and within the United States. Preliminary evidence underscores surges in IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic. The purpose of this study was to understand the impacts of COVID-19, including the impacts of movement restrictions (i.e., shelter in place orders, quarantine, isolation orders) on experiences of IPV from the perspective of survivors. In-depth interviews were conducted with nine survivors who presented at a large, Atlanta-based public hospital or sought IPV community resources (i.e., domestic violence shelter, therapy services) between March 2020 and December 2020. Thematic analysis was carried out to describe the impact of COVID-19 movement restrictions on IPV and help-seeking behaviors among survivors, in addition to identifying resources to improve IPV response during pandemics. Survivors cited relationship challenges that were amplified by either movement restrictions or consequences of COVID-19, including substance use, reinforced control tactics, and increased financial or life stressors resulting from the pandemic. COVID-19 movement restrictions catalyzed new relationships quickly and sparked new or intensified violence in existing relationships, and unveiled holes in IPV support services. Taken as a whole, these findings suggest COVID-19 movement restrictions and social distancing measures amplify IPV, experiences of trauma, and survivors' subsequent help-seeking experiences.

#### Introduction

Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) poses a severe public health threat globally and within the United States (U.S.). According to the National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, IPV constitutes any physical violence, sexual violence, stalking, psychological aggression, or coercive control tactics enacted by current or previous intimate partners (Breiding et al., 2015). The term 'intimate partner' encompasses any spouses, boyfriends, girlfriends, dating partners, or ongoing sexual partners (Breiding et al., 2015). According to the 2015 National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey, 43.6 million women and 37.3 million men in the United States reported experiences of rape, violence or stalking by an intimate partner in their lifetime (S. Smith et al., 2018). There are several facets to consider with IPV, including the types of IPV, associated stigma, risk factors for IPV victimization, injury, morbidity and mortality, IPV during public health emergencies, IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic, and IPV in the state of Georgia.

#### Types of IPV

While IPV manifests in overt forms of physical, sexual, and emotional violence, it is important to note most IPV often starts with less visible forms of violence on behalf of perpetrators, such as surveillance and controlling behaviors through limiting time with social connections, public humiliation and shaming, blocking electronic communication streams, and spreading rumors (Park & Jeon, 2021). These "invisible" IPV tactics and their impacts are equally as crucial to investigate, as they contribute to negative short-, mid-, and long-term outcomes. Of the more overt forms, physical violence encompasses a variety of behaviors, including slapping, pushing, shoving, beating, burning, or choking (Black et al., 2011). Sexual violence refers to rape, forced penetration of someone else, sexual coercion, unwanted sexual contact, and non-contact sexual encounters (Black et al., 2011). Stalking, another type of IPV, consists of repeated harassment or

threatening strategies to instill fear or concern for safety (Black et al., 2011). Of the more "invisible" IPV tactics, psychological or emotional IPV include name calling, insulting, humiliation, or other aggression directed at survivors (Black et al., 2011). Other forms of psychological IPV include coercive control, which refer to perpetrator behaviors aimed at monitoring, controlling or threatening survivors (Black et al., 2011).

## IPV and Stigma

Stigma plays a large role in IPV disclosure and related help-seeking behaviors. Due to the stigma and sensitivity surrounding data collection involving IPV survivors, most data are likely underestimates of actual IPV prevalence (Alfaro Quezada et al., 2020; Black et al., 2011; Breiding et al., 2014; Khurana & Loder, 2021). The stigma and sensitivity of IPV often plays a role in help-seeking behaviors of survivors. Despite more than 35% of women and 28% men in the U.S. experiencing IPV in their lifetime (Black et al., 2011), a majority of cases go unreported (Gracia, 2004).

## Risk Factors for IPV Victimization

A variety of characteristics have been identified as placing individuals at a higher risk for IPV victimization, including community and financial stress, minority group membership, adolescence and young adulthood, unemployment, low income, exposure to IPV or family violence as a child, and child abuse (Capaldi et al., 2012; Lipsky et al., 2005; Schafer et al., 2004; World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010). Other established risk factors for IPV victimization include partner alcohol or substance use (Lipsky et al., 2005; Schafer et al., 2004; World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010), separated or divorced marital status (World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010), lower educational

attainment (Breiding et al., 2008; World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010), poverty (World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010), mental disorders (i.e., depression) (World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010), as well as beliefs in traditional gender and social norms that reinforce violence (World Health Organization & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, 2010). Understanding such risk factors allows researchers and practitioners to identify and tailor prevention strategies.

Moreover, non-Hispanic Black, American Indian or Alaska Native, and multi-racial non-Hispanic women and men are more likely to experience IPV in their lifetime relative to White counterparts, suggesting disproportionate rates of IPV among Black, Indigenous, People of Color (BIPOC) (Black et al., 2011). While associations exist between racial or minority group membership and IPV, differences in education and income and structural racism underlie these associations (Dearwater et al., 1998; Jewkes, 2002; Snow Jones et al., 1999).

#### IPV Injury, Morbidity and Mortality

Data from the 2010 National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey indicate the most predominant form of IPV is physical violence, with 14.8% of women and 4% of men reporting sustained injuries due to IPV (Black et al., 2011). Additionally, several data sources suggest survivors of IPV have higher rates of unmet health needs despite accessing health care services more frequently and accumulating higher medical expenses (Bergman & Brismar, 1991; Plichta, 2007; Wisner et al., 1999). The Nationwide Emergency Department Database revealed 132,806 IPV-related ED visits across the United States between 2010 and 2014, resulting in combined medical costs of \$395 million (Alfaro Quezada et al., 2020). Multiple studies on injury patterns and demographics of individuals presenting to EDs across the country indicate a higher

prevalence of presenting female survivors (Alfaro Quezada et al., 2020; Davidov et al., 2015; Khurana & Loder, 2021; Loder & Momper, 2020). Patient profiles indicate a majority of IPV survivors presenting to EDs relied on Medicaid and self-pay methods (Alfaro Quezada et al., 2020; Davidov et al., 2015). While higher numbers of individuals report experiencing IPV for the first time prior to age 25 (Black et al., 2011; S. Smith et al., 2018), IPV is also significant among older patients presenting to EDs, with older, male patients sustaining more and higher severity injuries requiring hospitalization on average compared to female survivors presenting to EDs (Alfaro Quezada et al., 2020; Davidov et al., 2015; Khurana & Loder, 2021). Documented injury profiles of IPV survivors presenting the EDs also suggest patients commonly present with contusions or abrasions, lacerations, strains or sprains, internal organ injuries, and fractures (Alfaro Quezada et al., 2020; Davidov et al., 2015; Khurana & Loder, 2021; Loder & Momper, 2020).

In conjunction with physical injuries sustained, IPV has been associated with a plethora of negative health outcomes, including depression (Beydoun et al., 2016; Devries et al., 2013; Golding, 1999; Mazza et al., 2021), anxiety (Beydoun et al., 2016; Black et al., 2011), post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Black et al., 2011; Dutton et al., 2006; Golding, 1999; Mazza et al., 2021), suicidal behaviors (Beydoun et al., 2016; Black et al., 2011; Devries et al., 2013; Golding, 1999; Mazza et al., 2021), alcohol and drug misuse (Beydoun et al., 2016; Golding, 1999; Mazza et al., 2021), sexual problems (Mazza et al., 2021), concentration issues (Mazza et al., 2021), somatization (Mazza et al., 2021), social issues (Mazza et al., 2021), educational challenges (Mazza et al., 2021), feelings of guilt or blame (Mazza et al., 2021; Reich et al., 2014; Ross & Foster, 2012), chronic pain (Black et al., 2011; Mazza et al., 2021), gastrointestinal issues (Black et al., 2011; Mazza et al., 2021), traumatic brain injuries (TBIs) (Mazza et al.,

2021; st. Ivany & Schminkey, 2016), as well as cardiovascular disease (Mazza et al., 2021; Stene et al., 2013; E. N. Wright et al., 2018). Additionally, "invisible" forms of violence stemming from IPV negatively influence help-seeking behaviors and decrease opportunities for survivors of IPV to seek social support (Park & Jeon, 2021). In addition to the negative mental health outcomes associated with IPV, prior cross-sectional and case-control studies document the risk of IPV victimization among individuals with pre-existing mental health disorders (i.e., depression, anxiety, PTSD) (Khalifeh et al., 2015; Trevillion et al., 2012).

IPV can also precede mortality outcomes, such as homicide, suicide, among other violent fatalities. The phenomenon of intimate partner homicide (IPH) refers to fatal violent attacks committed by intimate partners (S. G. Smith et al., 2014). More than half of female victims of homicide in the U.S. are killed by IPH, with the top three mechanisms of injury being firearms, sharp instruments, and hanging, strangulation or suffocation (Petrosky et al., 2020). According to the National Violent Death Reporting System (NVDRS), young women belonging to racial or ethnic minority groups experience the highest rates of IPH (Petrosky et al., 2017). Another IPV homicide phenomenon occurs when family members, friends or new intimate partners, known as corollary victims, are killed by perpetrators (S. G. Smith et al., 2014). Significantly, one in every four IPH victims result in additional corollary victims, of which 76.4% are male family members or new intimate partners (S. G. Smith et al., 2014). Perpetrators of IPH may also die by suicide following the homicide event, with males making up 95-97% of perpetrators (Zeppegno et al., 2019). Additionally, IPV victimization may also precede suicide, with recent data from the U.S. establishing associations between heterosexual women experiencing physical IPV and selfreported suicidal ideation (Afifi et al., 2008). Lastly, NVDRS data suggest approximately one in

seven legal intervention fatalities are linked to IPV, referring to deaths by active-duty law enforcement officers during IPV incidents (DeGue et al., 2016).

## IPV and Public Health Emergencies

Of notable comparison to the COVID-19 pandemic is the 2013-2015 epidemic of Ebola Virus Disease (EVD) across Guinea, Liberia, and Sierra Leone. An assessment examining the impact of EVD on men and women, found 22.9% of 1,562 respondents reported cases of gender-based violence occurring during the peak of the epidemic (Korkoyah & Wreh, 2015). Through a mixture of desk reviews, in-depth interviews, and focus group discussions, the United Nations Development Program found disparities between official reports of sexual and gender-based violence (SGBV) and qualitative accounts of experiences of IPV in Eastern Sierra Leone (United Nations Development Programme, 2015). Specifically, while official reporting channels (i.e., medical providers, community service organizations, criminal justice entities) saw decreases in recorded SGBV cases, in-depth interviews and focus group discussions indicated increases in DV during the epidemic (United Nations Development Programme, 2015). Existing literature on EVD also indicate movement restrictions (i.e., school closures, curfews), negative economic impacts (i.e., unemployment), and decreased access to social services due to redirection of resources to EVD mitigation further exacerbated pre-existing SGBV disparities (Korkoyah & Wreh, 2015; United Nations Development Programme, 2015).

#### IPV and COVID-19

While a broad range of research examining COVID-19 and IPV has emerged in the past two years, several systematic reviews point to increases in IPV and DV, especially during lockdown and social distancing periods (Bazyar et al., 2021; Kourti et al., 2021; Lausi et al., 2021).

Despite the intention to mitigate the negative effects of COVID-19, movement restrictions (i.e., shelter-in-place orders, school closures, curfews) effectively trap survivors with their abusers by

creating isolating environments and exacerbating coercive control tactics (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Rieger et al., 2021; Sower & Alexander, 2021). Notably, a majority of emerging literature is cross-sectional or anecdotal in nature, underscoring the need for more incidence data and research on IPV risk factors during COVID-19 (D. P. Evans, 2020).

According to a systematic review of cross-sectional and cohort studies conducted on DV during the COVID-19 pandemic, a majority of violence trends were examined in North America (i.e., United States, Canada), followed by Europe (i.e., United Kingdom, Germany, Switzerland, Spain), Australia and New Zealand, and Africa (i.e., South Africa, Ghana) (Kourti et al., 2021). Across the United States, cross-sectional research suggests increases in DV reports during perpetrator working hours (McCrary & Sanga, 2021), increases in calls to DV service organizations during the 12-week lockdown period beginning in March 2020 (Leslie & Wilson, 2020), increases in DV reports through the Dallas, Texas Police Department during the first two weeks of lockdown (Piquero et al., 2020), an absence of increases in reported DV assaults despite increases in calls to DV service organizations (Mohler et al., 2020), decreases in reported DV cases across Chicago, IL in March 2020 compared to 2019 (McLay, 2021), in addition to increased odds of experiencing IPV among those with COVID-19 symptoms or diagnosis (Davis et al., 2020). Of note, crime data analyzed from the Atlanta Police Department revealed increases in domestic crimes during 2020 compared to the previous two years, suggesting increases in domestic violence (D. P. Evans et al., 2020). These findings are particularly pertinent, as the current study takes place in Atlanta, Georgia.

In conjunction with research on IPV and DV prevalence during COVID-19, much crosssectional research has been dedicated to exploring risk factors and adverse outcomes associated with experiencing IPV or DV during the pandemic. Results of cross-sectional research examining U.S. ED visits for mental health, overdose, and violence outcomes between 2018 and 2020 noted increases in visits pertaining to IPV during the lockdown period compared to previous years, indicating the severity of violence warranted breaking movement restrictions and navigating health risks of COVID-19 (Holland et al., 2021). Researchers in Spain also found lockdown and economic stress factors significantly contributed to increases in IPV, suggesting lifted movement restrictions will not decrease IPV and DV due to continued economic stress fueled by the pandemic (Bazyar et al., 2021). In the same vein, several cross-sectional studies indicate unemployment, economic stress, poor mental health and decreased social support increase the likelihood of experiencing violence in the home (Arenas-Arroyo et al., 2021; Jetelina et al., 2021; Lausi et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021).

Recent studies have also explored adverse mental health outcomes related to movement restrictions. A large cross-sectional study in the United Kingdom (U.K.) found higher levels of anxiety and depression during the initial COVID-19 lockdown period (L. Wright et al., 2020). Moreover, another large cross-sectional U.K. study found significant relationships between experiences of previous physical and/or psychological abuse, pre-existing mental health issues, decreased social support, and low socioeconomic status and the onset of depressive symptoms during the COVID-19 lockdown period between March and April 2020 (Frank et al., 2020). Qualitative studies using semi-structured in-depth interviews were conducted with female IPV survivors accessing shelter or IPV service agency resources in the Southwestern United States (Ravi et al., 2021), female immigrant IPV survivors in the United States (Sabri et al., 2020), female IPV survivors residing in domestic violence shelters in South Africa (Dekel & Abrahams, 2021), as well as female IPV survivors residing in Mumbai, India (Huq et al., 2021). Evidence from this preliminary qualitative research suggest COVID-19 increased individual stressors, such

as financial stress or unemployment (Dekel & Abrahams, 2021; Huq et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021; Sabri et al., 2020), mental health complications (Huq et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021; Sabri et al., 2020), household work and caregiving burdens (Dekel & Abrahams, 2021; Huq et al., 2021; Sabri et al., 2020), as well as increased severity and incidences of IPV associated with increased alcohol consumption (Huq et al., 2021), control tactics (i.e., partner isolation, control of movements, monitoring) (Dekel & Abrahams, 2021; Huq et al., 2021; Sabri et al., 2020), and confinement within the home (Dekel & Abrahams, 2021; Huq et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021; Sabri et al., 2020). Additionally, data from survivors engaged with shelters and IPV service agencies suggest a lack of support from shelters during COVID-19, in addition to exacerbated feelings of isolation stemming from a combination of strict shelter rules and stay-at-home orders that mirror control or isolation tactics enacted by abusive partners (Ravi et al., 2021).

Anecdotal evidence and commentaries have also emerged amidst COVID-19 and preliminary findings concerning IPV. Notably, they highlight pre-existing disparities exacerbated by the pandemic, such as economic instability, unsafe housing, neighborhood violence, low social support (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Ravi et al., 2021; Rieger et al., 2021; Sower & Alexander, 2021). They also explore potential explanations for decreases in help-seeking behaviors or calls to crisis lines due to lack of safety in connecting with resources due to sheltering in place with perpetrators of IPV (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Sower & Alexander, 2021; Zero & Geary, 2020). Diminished IPV resources and shelters with reduced capacity, overburdened hospitals and HCPs, reduced social support (i.e., family, friends), as well as limited or reduced capacity law enforcement means (i.e., protective orders) leave survivors of IPV at a particularly vulnerable place (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Sower & Alexander, 2021; Zero & Geary, 2020). Thus, more research into the relationship between movement restrictions, help-seeking behaviors, and IPV

during COVID-19 is necessary to inform future pandemic response and address what has been referred to as a "shadow pandemic" (UN Women, n.d.).

As movement restrictions and social distancing practices lift, the long-term effects of IPV during COVID-19 are still unidentified. Although preliminary anecdotal and empirical data indicate increases in the prevalence of IPV during the pandemic, gaps remain in understanding the overarching impacts of quarantining and movement restrictions on IPV. More research is warranted to assist pandemic response through examination of health, economic, and other invisible impacts of IPV. As most available data come from social media, the internet, anecdotal evidence, helpline reports, and interviews with HCPs (Hendrix et al., 2021; Viero et al., 2021), the current study aims to address the gap of qualitative in-depth interviews with survivors of IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic. Up until now, no study has examined IPV survivors' perceptions of COVID-19 movement restrictions (i.e., shelter-in-place, quarantine, isolation orders) and their effects on traumatic injury and help-seeking behaviors. The purpose of this study was to understand the impacts of COVID-19, including the impacts of movement restrictions (i.e., shelter in place orders, quarantine, isolation orders), on experiences of IPV from the perspective of survivors. Exploring this unique perspective provides necessary context to existing evidence.

The COVID-19 pandemic offers a unique context, with many states and countries enacting movement-restrictions (i.e., shelter-in-place orders) that may exacerbate IPV. Specifically, public health measures restricting movement reinforce and socially legitimize isolation and coercive control tactics enacted by perpetrators of abuse. Therefore, the perspectives of IPV survivors who sought healthcare or resources pertaining to their relationship during COVID-19 are necessary to provide insight into the pandemic's impact on IPV and help-seeking behaviors.

#### IPV in Georgia

Of the 80,921,000 men and women estimated nationally to have experienced IPV in their lifetime (S. Smith et al., 2018), 14.5 million estimated lifetime survivors reside in the state of Georgia where this study takes place (Black et al., 2011). It is pertinent to note uniform and comparable national and state-level data for IPV are lacking (Black et al., 2011). Prior research underscores the high prevalence of IPV in Georgia (Black et al., 2011), in addition to its rankings as one of the states with higher rates at which women are killed by men (Georgia Coalition Against Domestic Violence, 2020). Moreover, cumulative increases in 2020 DV crimes in the city of Atlanta compared to the previous two years highlight surges of IPV during the pandemic (D. P. Evans et al., 2020). As two counties within the Atlanta area contain the highest prevalence of COVID-19 cases, hospitalizations, and total deaths for the state (Georgia Department of Public Health, 2021), Atlanta, Georgia provides an ideal context in which to examine the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on IPV from the perspective of survivors.

#### Methods

# Design

The research team employed a cross-sectional mixed-methods study design to carry out the study. As a relatively novel area of research, the study design maximized the investigation of the impacts of COVID-19 related movement restrictions on IPV and experiences of trauma, health-seeking, and community resource-seeking behaviors from survivors of IPV. As IPV is a sensitive topic, in-depth qualitative interviews were selected, as they prove useful in building rapport and eliciting perceptions and experiences from survivors.

#### Instrument

Two original in-depth interview (IDI) guides were created, one for IPV survivors recruited using data from a large, Atlanta-based public hospital's trauma registry, and one for IPV survivors recruited from community IPV resources in the metro-Atlanta area. Both guides included questions designed to explore the following topics: (1) knowledge and perceptions of COVID-19 and movement restrictions, (2) perceptions and experiences of IPV during COVID-19, (3) perceived effects of COVID-19 movement restrictions on experiences of IPV, (4) perceived changes in IPV experiences from before compared to during the COVID-19 pandemic, (5) facilitators for experiencing IPV during COVID-19, (6) perceptions of facilitators and barriers to seeking IPV resources during COVID-19, and (7) and perceptions of resources or supports that could improve IPV response during pandemics. Each guide was divided into seven sections. Section one included quantitative questions to collect survivor demographic information. Next, section two included a mixture of quantitative and qualitative questions concerning knowledge and perceptions of COVID-19 and movement restrictions across Atlanta and the state of Georgia, as a whole. Section three consisted of qualitative questions about survivors' lives and challenges prior to and during the COVID-19 pandemic. Section four contained qualitative questions concerning survivors' current or most recent relationships, their relationship challenges prior to and during the pandemic, as well as experiences of IPV before and during the pandemic. Section five differed slightly for survivors recruited from the trauma registry and community survivors, in that survivors recruited from the trauma registry were asked questions concerning their visit to the hospital following IPV; survivors recruited from the community were asked questions about the social services (i.e., DV shelter, therapy services) they sought for IPV during the pandemic. Section six included quantitative and qualitative questions about survivors' current and previous experiences with IPV, knowledge of available resources, and remaining resource needs. Lastly,

section seven included wrap-up questions to debrief survivors, share IPV resources, and close the interview.

The primary interviewer pilot tested both IDIs with members of the research team and feedback from practice interviews were incorporated into the final guides, which also included probing techniques to extract additional information from participants. Once pilot testing was complete and the first set of patient and community survivor interviews were conducted, the research team made iterative changes to the IDIs, including the addition of more probes and inclusion of language stressing the importance of taking the interview in a private space away from family members or intimate partners.

#### **Participants**

To be eligible for study participation, survivors had to have presented at a large, Atlanta-based public hospital between March 2020 and December 2020 or have sought IPV community resources (i.e., domestic violence shelter, therapy services) between March 2020 and December 2020. For patient survivors, the research team pulled electronic medical records from the large public hospital using ICD-9 and ICD-10 codes pertaining to IPV. Then the team pulled a subset of those electronic medical records containing social worker notes to capture IPV cases more accurately when querying medical records (Tabaie et al., n.d.; Zeidan et al., n.d.). Once this was accomplished, the team cross-referenced with the hospital's trauma registry to confirm IPV. Purposive sampling of IPV survivors using the hospital's trauma registry was employed to determine the initial sample (n=5). To diversify the sample, the research team used social media study advertisements and reached out to community providers of IPV resources to distribute study fliers among groups and listservs to recruit interested community members with IPV experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic (n=4). Due to the sensitive and challenging nature

of recruiting people actively experiencing relationship violence, all interested and eligible participants who met the inclusion criteria were included in the final sample (n=9). Survivors from the large, Atlanta-based public hospital were recruited for the study via a variety of methods, the first of which included texts sent to patient phone numbers obtained through the patient's electronic medical record. If there was no reply, the research team followed up three times every three days. Following a reply expressing interest, a short phone call was scheduled to confirm patient identity and eligibility, explain the study's purpose, schedule a date and time for a Zoom interview, and set up an identity passphrase for use during the interview to ensure safety. Participants received confirmation texts or emails with the study's informed consent and Zoom invite, in addition to an interviewer reminder 24 hours in advance.

Survivors from the community were recruited for the study via a distribution of a study flier containing eligibility requirements, study information, and contact information for members of the study team with whom interested individuals could reach out to. Study fliers were posted on social media advertisements, listservs from Atlanta-based IPV organizations, and public spaces (i.e., public transit stations, grocery stores, shopping malls, parks). Once contacted, members of the study team set up a 5-minute phone call to confirm eligibility, explain the study's purpose, schedule a date and time for a Zoom interview, and set up an identity passphrase for use during the interview to ensure safety. Participants received confirmation texts or emails with the study's informed consent and Zoom invite, in addition to an interviewer reminder 24 hours in advance.

All participants received comprehensive IPV resource lists and were compensated with a \$25 gift card following interview completion.

# Data Collection

Data collection occurred from April 2021 through November 2021. Despite data collection occurring at a single time point, the study examined IPV survivors' perceptions and experiences prior to and during the COVID-19 pandemic due to inclusion criteria of participants. Potential issues of recall bias were mitigated by incorporating time frames into the interview guide for participants to focus their responses.

Following pilot testing, two interviewers conducted nine in-depth interviews with IPV survivors, five with survivors recruited from the trauma registry and four with community survivors who sought resources for IPV. An additional member of the research team was also present for each interview to take field notes. Interviews were conducted and recorded remotely via Zoom and lasted between 60 and 120 minutes. Some interviews were interrupted and rescheduled due to the presence of the perpetrator or a third party that compromised the privacy of survivors. To ensure privacy and safety were maintained, we established a safe phrase with survivors prior to each interview that they could use to end the interview at any time. Following each interview, verbatim transcripts were produced using Happy Scribe (Happy Scribe, n.d.), with quality checks conducted by a graduate research assistant. At the end of each interview, survivors were provided with links to a secure safety planning app and a password protected IPV resource guide containing local resources. Approvals for data collection were obtained by Emory University's Institutional Review Board.

## Data Analysis

The current analysis includes nine in-depth interviews with survivors of IPV living in Atlanta, Georgia. Data management and analysis were carried out using MAXQDA Analytics Pro 2022 (VERBI Software, 2021).

Thematic analysis was selected as the analysis framework. Thematic analysis refers to "the method for identifying, analyzing, and reporting patterns (themes) within data" (Braun & Clarke, 2006). For this project, the phases of thematic analysis identified by Braun and Clarke were employed (Braun & Clarke, 2006). These phases include data familiarization, creating initial codes, searching for themes, reviewing themes, defining themes, and creating a final report (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

In order advance data familiarization, thorough review of all transcripts was completed.

Throughout the course data orientation and subsequent analysis, the process of memoing, writing annotations or comments, was employed to keep an audit trail of analytical decisions, notes, methods employed, and develop final themes.

Prior to the identification of codes, the graduate research assistant reoriented themselves to the original research goals: Describe the impact of COVID-19-related movement restrictions on the experiences of trauma resulting from IPV, including health or help-seeking behaviors. During the code identification process, codes were developed inductively based off questions from the IDI guides, IPV literature, data familiarization and preliminary memoing. Several initial codes came from breaking the research question down into smaller pieces and some of the examples brainstormed during initial codebook discussions with the larger research team. Examples of deductive codes include "COVID-19 insights," "COVID relationship challenges," "IPV classification," and "Negative help-seeking experiences." This method aligns with Bazeley's approach to organizing code structures based on conceptual similarities, while also ensuring that each concept only appeared in the code structure one time (Bazeley, 2021). Inductive codes were also developed between the two interviewers based off recurring topics from interviews.

Examples of inductive codes include "Financial control," "First-time relationship violence," and "Substance use."

Following coding of the first transcript, additional inductive codes were added, and the final codebook underwent review by the larger research team. The finalized codebook was then used to recode the first transcript and subsequent eight transcripts. After coding was completed, a variety of methods were employed throughout primary data analysis and theme development. These methods include memoing, case summaries, reflections, matrices, as well as comparisons across data. Finally, descriptive statistics were run on quantitative data using Qualtrics and Excel.

# **Ethical Considerations**

Informed consent forms were emailed or texted to participants in advance of interviews and read aloud to participants prior to the start of each interview. Verbal consent was obtained and documented by the research team for each participant prior to data collection. This research was approved by Emory University's Institutional Review Board (Study ID 00000432). Survivors were also provided with access to a secure safety planning app and a password protected IPV resource guide containing local resources (e.g., hotlines, DV shelters, general DV resources, temporary housing, health care, legal assistance) to minimize study harms, potential retraumatization, and ongoing IPV.

#### **Results**

Survivors interviewed included 7 female-identifying survivors, 1 male-identifying survivor, and 1 non-binary survivor. The majority of survivors interviewed identified as Black or African American (n=7). The mean age of survivors was 39. Roughly half of survivors interviewed were self-reported as single, not in a relationship, at the time of their interview (n=5). Roughly half of

survivors interviewed had a private insurance plan during 2020 (n=4). When asked about services sought, five survivors reported obtaining services at the large, Atlanta-based public hospital, two sought services at DV shelters, and two sought therapy services following IPV during the pandemic. Six of the survivors interviewed indicated awareness of Atlanta- or Georgia-specific movement restrictions (Table 1).

The results of this study are presented within three thematic categories describing the impact of COVID-19 movement restrictions and social distancing measures described by survivors on their experiences of trauma resulting from IPV and help-seeking behaviors: COVID-19 impacts paved the way for relationship challenges catalyzing violence, COVID-19 movement restrictions catalyzed new relationships quickly and sparked new or intensified violence in existing relationships, and IPV help-seeking during COVID unveiled holes in support services.

The first two themes are comprised of subthemes with elaboration and explanation. All themes include initial summarization and elaboration of findings using paraphrased and verbatim quotes from survivors to contextualize results.

Theme 1: COVID-19 impacts paved the way for relationship challenges catalyzing violence

Each of the survivors cited relationship challenges that were amplified by either movement
restrictions or consequences of COVID-19. Dimensions of these recurring relationship
challenges include increased substance use, reinforced tactics of control or abuse, as well as
increased financial or life stressors resulting from the pandemic. Notably, survivors attributed
these COVID-related relationship challenges to higher recurrences of arguments or fights, which
often preceded episodes of IPV.

Subtheme 1.1: COVID-19 Substance use as a catalyst for relationship violence

Survivor and/or perpetrator substance use (i.e., alcohol use, drug use) throughout early parts of the pandemic featured in four of the nine cases analyzed. Specifically, survivors discussed substance use preceding relationship violence during COVID-19. Of note, each case featuring substance use as a facilitator of relationship violence came up with survivors recruited for the study from Atlanta's large public hospital who previously presented with IPV injuries between March and December of 2020. Facilitators of increased substance use during the pandemic among survivors and perpetrators include isolation in the home due to movement restrictions, increased employment stress and/or financial stress, working remote, as well as pre-existing substance misuse issues. Some survivors noted their own and their partner's increased alcohol or drug use stemmed from isolating in their homes due to shelter in place orders or other movement restrictions:

"It's just, you know, you have nothing else better to do and confined to the home. So, you just drink and I'm drinking to have fun, have a good time." (36-year-old Black/African American female survivor)

Conversely, other survivors attributed their own and their partner's increased alcohol or drug use to stress or isolation resulting from personal or institutional challenges, such as job instability:

"I was, uh, drinking more, of course, but, no, I just lost, I just lost my purpose because I'm not working and I'm just losing ambition. I'm not even goal driven like I used to be [before the pandemic], I'm just really, just waking up to go back to sleep." (31-year-old Black/African American female survivor)

Regarding perpetrator substance use, two survivors indicated their intimate partners had preexisting drug or alcohol misuse issues that factored heavily into their relationship challenges during COVID-19. For example, a 65-year-old male Black/African American survivor indicated weekly fight frequencies increased from two prior to the pandemic to seven or more during the pandemic due to disagreements concerning his partner leaving the house to consume alcohol or use his money to purchase more alcohol.

Notably, perpetrator and/or survivor substance use preceded episodes of IPV during the pandemic in each of the four cases identified from the sample. For example, a 54-year-old female Black/African American survivor relayed an episode of physical IPV during the pandemic, which began with her partner consuming a large amount of alcohol, leaving to use "crack cocaine", and returning to her house, which led to an argument and physical attack in which he strangled her. Other instances in which substance use, primarily alcohol consumption, preceded IPV episodes during the pandemic featured arguments centered around the perpetrator's alcohol consumption, the perpetrator leaving the house to consume alcohol with individuals despite movement restrictions, or the perpetrator initiating arguments or physical attacks following substance use. Thus, this pattern of IPV underscores increased substance use during COVID-19 as a catalyst for relationship violence.

Subtheme 1.2: COVID-19 movement restrictions and social distancing measures reinforced control and abuse tactics contributing to relationship challenges and IPV

Across several cases, COVID-19 movement restrictions and social distancing measures bolstered perpetrator methods of control over survivors. Ensuing episodes of IPV stemmed from the challenges and arguments resulting from these reinforced control or abuse tactics. Among relevant cases, COVID-19 movement restrictions and social distancing measures either overtly or covertly augmented survivor experiences of IPV.

Regarding instances in which perpetrators overtly mechanized COVID-19 movement restrictions to reinforce control tactics, one survivor noted her partner was extremely paranoid about COVID

and claimed he did not want anyone coming to the house or the survivor leaving the house. Moreover, he called her from work every hour to make sure she was home and used COVID to justify installing a tracker on her smart phone to ensure she was not leaving the house. When questioned about if the survivor thought these coercive control tactics were used more so out of fear of COVID or desire to control her, she indicated:

"Control. COVID gave him an opportunity to tighten the reins, if you will, around my throat." (39-year-old Indigenous/White female survivor)

As a result, the intensified control measures reinforced by COVID-19 restrictions contributed to increased arguments when the survivor left the home against the perpetrator's wishes, which were followed by episodes of physical IPV.

Conversely, instances in which COVID-19 movement restrictions and social distancing measures covertly augmented survivor experiences of IPV were present across several cases. For example, one male survivor indicated his long-term partner had issues with jealousy. His partner had cheated on him previously and her feelings of jealousy were amplified during the COVID period:

"She would do crazy stuff like all my contacts from my job...church female members and stuff like that. She would erase their phone numbers out my cell phone. My...daughter's number, her mother's number, my sister's number...any female phone number that she found on my phone, she would delete it." (65-year-old Black/African American male survivor)

Other survivors discussed how, through a combination of COVID-19 movement restrictions and their partner's doing, they were isolated from their social networks (i.e., friends, family, peers).

Notably, one female survivor commented on her partner's deliberate use of COVID movement restrictions to cut her off from her social network:

I think he tried to push people away, you know, like [friend's name] said... My best friend, she came over to the house, and she was like, "I could stand on one side of the fence, man, you could stand on the other side of the fence in your yard, and we could chop it up. I'll eat on my car, and you could eat on your car." And he wasn't going for it, even though we were six feet apart. So, I don't think it was COVID related. I strongly feel that it was an opportunity to, like I said, tighten those reigns. (39-year-old Indigenous/White female survivor)

Across interviews survivors indicated this isolation resulted in larger amounts of time spent with their partners, prompting more opportunities for abuse.

# Subtheme 1.3: COVID-19 restrictions and impacts pertaining to financial and life stressors bolstered IPV

Other facets of the pandemic contributing to survivors' experiences of IPV pertained to financial and life stressors stemming from COVID movement restrictions and subsequent impacts.

Examples of such stressors include, economic instability, housing instability, job instability, stress resulting from remote employment, virtual schooling for children, potential COVID-19 exposure, and relationship strain created by government stimulus payments. Across all cases, survivors discussed high frequencies and intensified arguments in their relationships during the pandemic. Specifically, among the six relationships that occurred prior to and during COVID-19, all survivors indicated the frequency and intensity of arguments increased following the onset of COVID. The high frequency of arguments and subsequent relationship strain contributed to

episodes of IPV. One survivor noted that following the onset of COVID, her relationship became more violent:

"We argue more after COVID-19 than we did before COVID-19. But to be honest, if I really had to compare the two, we argued the same, things just got worse, like he started really, putting his hands on me after that" (23-year-old Black/African American female survivor).

Several survivors cited financial stress or economic instability during the pandemic as a key feature of their relationship challenges. For example, one survivor who lost his job during the pandemic felt that he shouldered all financial responsibilities for both himself and his partner during COVID:

"She really was [putting] more pressure on me because I had two people to look after then, before was just me and myself and I managed very well before COVID hit. And then when I started seeing her it was rough and then COVID hit, that made it super rough."

(65-year-old Black/African American male survivor)

In this example, financial challenges during COVID gave way to more arguments and episodes of IPV because of the perpetrator's high spending on alcohol.

Additionally, job or housing instability resulting from the impacts of COVID-19 contributed to relationship challenges. A number of survivors described how they and/or their partners lost employment or were furloughed during the pandemic, were evicted, or had to move in with their families. Such instability, in turn, contributed to the financial strain within relationships discussed previously. For instance, one survivor discussed how she and her partner lost their restaurant jobs during COVID, which contributed to relationship strain, higher argument

frequency, and subsequent physical IPV due to disagreements concerning finding new employment and personal finances. Additionally, she and her partner had to move in with her mother following an eviction, which she also noted contributed to relationship strain from being confined in the same environment together.

Moreover, COVID-19 movement restrictions and social distancing measures resulting in remote work status and/or virtual schooling for children also fueled more arguments and relationship challenges for survivors. Some survivors indicated they had to work remote while their children also began virtual schooling and their partners worked outside the home as essential workers. Subsequently, working from home coupled with increased caregiving responsibilities or disputes over child discipline, resulted in more relationship strain. For instance,

"Um, but COVID...I think made it more, um, of a bigger issue for me, especially 'cause I'm like, okay, you're coming in here asking about cleaning or whatever. Meanwhile, I'm managing kids that are acting crazy and my job...You know, I already told you that it was stressful. So, I'm like, you already know my work situation. So, I don't have time to like... It, it's a lot trying to keep the kids together and do my work. So, why are you...being a jerk about, why isn't the house clean ...So, I think for me, that um, became another layer of resentment." (45-year-old Black/African American female survivor)

From this relationship strain and higher argument frequencies, survivors noted novel or increased episodes of IPV during the pandemic. In a similar vein, several survivors noted increased disagreements with partners regarding breaking movement restrictions or potential COVID-19 exposure. Regarding perpetrators who worked outside the home as essential workers during

COVID, survivors noted increased arguments and relationship strain attributed to fear and anxiety concerning their partners' potential exposures to COVID while working. For example:

"So, she had to travel for work. She has the, what do they call them... Yeah, the essential worker...And so she had to go out of town a lot. She had to go to work and come back home. And. And I was scared because, you know, high risk is on my children." (36-year-old Black/African American female survivor)

Other types of relationship strain or violence stemming from breaking movement restrictions pertained to one partner, usually the survivor, disagreeing with the other partner's lack of adherence to COVID precautions. In several cases, disagreements over leaving the house during the pandemic resulted in episodes of physical IPV. To illustrate, one survivor indicated:

"It got worse after COVID because I tried to keep her isolated, out the street, but...She couldn't stay away from that old neighborhood... A lot of people was dying in that area from COVID. You know, and I don't want her to running over there and running back into my isolation zone." (65-year-old Black/African American male survivor)

Furthermore, some survivors noted increased relationship challenges or strain resulting from government stimulus payments, also known as stimulus checks. These relationship challenges pertained to disagreements concerning how to use the money. For example, one survivor noted her partner feared she would take his stimulus money and use it for herself and end the relationship while he spent the money: "It seems like every time a check would roll around, there was, there was a breakup" (37-year-old White female survivor).

Collectively, novel or preexisting relationship challenges amplified by the impacts of the pandemic contributed to episodes of IPV due to higher rates of escalated arguments. Although some survivors indicated they did not believe COVID directly contributed to their relationship issues or IPV, subsequent challenges described as being invoked or inflated by the pandemic reveal the true magnitude of its impacts.

# Theme 2: COVID-19 movement restrictions catalyzed new relationships quickly and sparked new or intensified violence in existing relationships

In addition to pandemic impacts that bolstered relationship challenges and IPV, COVID-19 movement restrictions appeared to impact the trajectory of both new and existing relationships. Dimensions of this theme include new instances of IPV occurring in relationships started during the pandemic, new instances of IPV in existing relationships, and intensified instances of IPV in existing relationships. As such, movement restrictions, social distancing measures, and the negative repercussions of the pandemic influenced the amount of time couples spent together, their relationship challenges, as well as the occurrences of new, more frequent and/or severe IPV episodes.

# Subtheme 2.1: COVID-19 movement restrictions catalyzed new relationships and triggered violence

Three survivors discussed how their relationships began and ended during the pandemic, reinforcing this idea of the "COVID relationship." Notably, two survivors indicated their relationships began during March 2020, when movement restrictions and social distancing measures were enacted, and ended in July of 2020 when restrictions were relaxed in Georgia. Common descriptions of this type of relationship included spending large amounts of time with

each other daily, moving in together after dating for a few weeks due to movement restrictions, fear of COVID-19 exposure, financial strain, or job instability.

In terms of spending increased amounts of time together, one survivor in a "COVID relationship" noted: "I did see them like gradually...we'll spend like a whole day or two together, like, like at much 48 hours or four or 24 hours" (22-year-old Black/African American non-binary survivor). Moreover, two survivors in "COVID relationships" discussed moving in with their partners after briefly dating due to fear of COVID exposure or instability created by the pandemic. One survivor was particularly fearful of exposure to COVID, stating:

"But during the pandemic, um, I started seeing stuff, and he would leave out the house, you know, and he asked me cause we was in a situation, he asked me, well let me just come stay with you, cause you tell me, you know, every time I come over, I gotta be tested, so if I stay here wit you, you know, you'll feel better. And I'm like yeah, get tested [inaudible], I did that, I let him stay...Well, after we started datin', um, I moved him in because I was like, you know, I like you, you get along with my dog." (54-year-old Black/African American female survivor)

From spending increased amounts of time together and/or moving in with each other, survivors indicated increased frequencies of arguments or disagreements as their short relationships progressed. Moreover, survivors in "COVID relationships" also discussed experiencing IPV, either physical or psychological, for the first time ever, resulting from arguments and relationship strain. When asked if she had experienced fights or arguments with her partner or previous partners prior to an episode of physical IPV requiring hospitalization, one survivor said:

"Nooo. No. We didn't have fights or arguments before that. Nooo. First time a man has physically attacked me. That was supposed to be my man, who's supposed to love me. He was supposed to be the man, he was supposed to be my confidant. He was supposed to be my king. What if anything happened to me? He would be there to take care of me. He flipped the script." (54-year-old Black/African American Female survivor)

# Subtheme 2.2: COVID-19 movement restrictions sparked new or intensified violence in existing relationships

In a similar vein, survivors in relationships prior to COVID, frequently discussed new or exacerbated relationship challenges, arguments, or IPV following the onset of the pandemic.

Regarding her long-term relationship, one survivor noted:

"It was abusive. COVID didn't make it any, um... I mean, CO-...COVID didn't produce the abuse, the abuse was already pre-existing. It just got worse during COVID." (39-year-old Indigenous/White female survivor)

Other survivors noted the frequency of arguments with their partners increased from a couple per week prior to COVID, to every single day during the pandemic. Following the increased relationship strain, several survivors indicated experiencing episodes of IPV for the first time, physical IPV requiring hospitalization for the first time, or higher, more intense IPV episodes following the onset of COVID. When asked if this was the first time she experienced relationship violence requiring hospitalization, a survivor indicated: "Yes, in my life, never once experienced something like this in my life" (23-year-old Black/African American female survivor). As a whole, existing IPV experiences throughout the pandemic can be summed up in the words of one

survivor who declared: "We're out here getting slaughtered by these abusive people, and it's not just us, it's children, too" (36-year-old Black/African American female survivor).

Experiences described by survivors in "COVID relationships" drew on accelerated relationship timelines stemming from increased free time and fear of COVID exposure resulting from movement restrictions and pandemic repercussions. Conversely, survivors in existing relationships described new or exacerbated relationship challenges or arguments stemming from the pandemic's movement restrictions and life impacts. Collectively, the impacts of COVID laid the foundation for new or intensified violence within "COVID relationships" and existing relationships by exposing relationship challenges linked to movement restrictions and pandemic impacts (i.e., financial instability, housing instability, job instability, isolation, fear of COVID exposure), thus predisposing survivors to IPV.

# Theme 3: IPV help-seeking during COVID unveiled holes in support services

Across all interviews, survivors discussed negative help-seeking or gaps in experiences with healthcare, law enforcement, and social services (i.e., DV shelters, therapy services). When talking about healthcare experiences, survivors frequently commented on not being allowed to have anyone accompany them to the hospital. When discussing their hospital experience following a physical IPV episode, one survivor noted:

"So, they couldn't go into the hospital with me. So basically, my mom's best friend, my aunt, the one who she [partner] used to stay with before she moved in with us. I said basically, hey, I had to tuck and roll out of the car and going to the hospital by myself."

(36-year-old Black/African American female survivor)

Other healthcare challenges noted by survivors included longer wait times due to decreased hospital capacity from COVID, with one survivor indicating:

"They will put you in the emergency room and you sit there for hours upon hours. I was sitting there three hours bleeding...you know, all the medical facilities were overflowed, understaffed and they was going through hell, so many people with covid so the regular emergency you know their priority was covid related kinda put on the backburner" (65-year-old Black/African American male survivor)

Several survivors also noted social workers or other healthcare providers spent limited to no time with them during their visits, only offered a list of phone numbers for DV shelters, and repeatedly asked them to describe their IPV episode, which they indicated as contributing to negative help-seeking experiences.

Concerning help-seeking experiences with law enforcement, survivors discussed an array of negative experiences. Some noted they were almost arrested, were arrested with their perpetrator, advised to go back to their home where IPV was occurring, could not receive a protective order because courts were closed, or were simply provided a list of DV shelters to contact. For example, when discussing her experience contacting the police following an episode of physical IPV, one survivor said:

"I told them, I talked to 911, and I said I'm goin' right here to the, uh, to the, uh, police station at the [store name], on [street name]...I'm at there knockin' the door, ringin' the doorbell. And the man comes...., we don't come outside and answer, and take reports. I go, look, I'm runnin' for my life right now... The man [police officer] said, ma'am, if you need help, you gonna take yourself down to where you just came. You do the math. If

you need help, you're going to take yourself better than what you just came from." (54-year-old Black/African American female survivor)

Lastly, several survivors discussed negative help-seeking experiences with social services, such as DV shelters or therapy. A survivor who stayed at a DV shelter for a few weeks during April 2020, indicated communal living combined with social distancing created a plethora of challenges. She said she constantly felt like she had to clean "in order to be safe," and "wearing a mask 24/7" felt like being at work. Regarding strict DV shelter rules during COVID-19, the same survivor said:

"I mean, the rules related to the house, like clean up after yourself, have chores, all of this, none of that was the problem. It was the rules related to COVID, like you had to, um, get a pass to leave, even if you wanted to go buy a pack of cigarettes...and you're only allowed to leave for 30 minutes and then you have to come back...One day, I had a mandatory meeting at work, and....it was almost like, picking between my job or my place to sleep at night, because they didn't want me to leave because it was more than 30 minutes. That's not helpful to me because if I lose my job, then how do I get out of the situation that I'm already in?" (39-year-old Indigenous/White female survivor)

Other gaps discussed by two survivors who sought DV shelter and support services included long waiting lists for DV classes, cancelled DV classes during shelter in place orders, a lack of virtual options for DV classes, a lack of accessible support groups, and long waiting lists for transitional housing.

Several survivors who also sought therapy services following their IPV experiences discussed attrition among service providers, in that multiple therapists quit or terminated communication

with them after multiple sessions. Regarding therapist attrition, one survivor said: "I guess maybe that was their internship or I don't know what, but every time I would get close enough to speak with somebody about the situation, they'll be like, well, it was nice knowing you" (36-year-old Black/African American female survivor). Finally, some survivors also indicated they had to terminate therapy services due to insurance and cost barriers, or they felt like there were not any accessible support groups for people with their experiences.

Collectively, negative help-seeking experiences and gaps in services highlighted by survivors stemmed from capacity issues, personnel shortages, lack of virtual formats, cost barriers, and IPV resource shortages amplified by COVID-19 movement restrictions and negative repercussions of the pandemic.

#### **Discussion**

The purpose of this study was to understand the impacts of COVID-19, including the impacts of movement restrictions (i.e., shelter in place orders, quarantine, isolation orders), on experiences of IPV from the perspective of survivors. Since the beginning of the pandemic, cross-sectional and anecdotal evidence have documented surges in IPV and IPV help-seeking behaviors among survivors (Davis et al., 2020; D. P. Evans et al., 2020; Leslie & Wilson, 2020; McCrary & Sanga, 2021; McLay, 2021; Mohler et al., 2020; Piquero et al., 2020). Consequently, understanding the impact of COVID movement restrictions on survivors' experiences of IPV and their help-seeking behaviors is imperative for providing appropriate support and resources. Negative help-seeking experiences and gaps in IPV services identified by these survivors can be incorporated into current and future practice, recommendations, resources, and services as the COVID-19 pandemic evolves and future public health emergencies emerge.

Survivors discussed a variety of trauma experiences resulting from IPV and how COVID-19 movement restrictions impacted their experiences and help-seeking behaviors. All survivors discussed relationship challenges that were amplified by either movement restrictions or consequences of COVID-19. Some survivors attributed COVID relationship challenges and subsequent IPV to increased substance use, bolstering findings from other qualitative research conducted during the pandemic, which linked increased severity and incidences of IPV with increased alcohol consumption (Huq et al., 2021). Other survivors drew connections between COVID-19 movement restrictions and their partner's control or abuse tactics. For those survivors, movement restrictions (i.e., shelter-in-place orders, school closures, curfews) trapped them with their abusers by creating isolating environments, which may have exacerbated coercive control and other abuse tactics (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Rieger et al., 2021; Sower & Alexander, 2021). Survivors also indicated increased financial or life stressors resulting from COVID featured as prominent components in their IPV experiences. This may be explained by other COVID-19 research connecting lockdown and economic stress factors to increases in IPV, suggesting lifted movement restrictions will not decrease IPV and DV due to continued economic stress fueled by the pandemic (Arenas-Arroyo et al., 2021; Bazyar et al., 2021; Jetelina et al., 2021; Lausi et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021). Notably, survivors attributed these COVIDrelated relationship challenges to higher recurrences of arguments or fights, which often preceded episodes of IPV, reinforcing preliminary evidence pointing to increases in IPV and DV, especially during lockdown and social distancing periods (Bazyar et al., 2021; Kourti et al., 2021; Lausi et al., 2021).

COVID-19 created an alternative reality discussed by survivors as stemming from unemployment, remote work environments, movement restrictions, and social distancing

measures, allowing intimate partners to spend more time with each other than they might have pre-pandemic. The unique situation and environment created by the pandemic were described by survivors as impacting the trajectory of their relationships, both new and existing. Through discussion of their experiences, survivors indicated movement restrictions, social distancing measures, and the negative repercussions of the pandemic influenced their relationship challenges, as well as the occurrences of new or a higher frequency and/or severity of IPV episodes. Their experiences further bolster prior research suggesting the pandemic increases the likelihood of experiencing IPV and DV, especially during shelter in place orders (Arenas-Arroyo et al., 2021; Bazyar et al., 2021; Jetelina et al., 2021; Kourti et al., 2021; Lausi et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021).

Regarding help-seeking behaviors following IPV experienced during COVID, survivors discussed a plethora of gaps in services or negative experiences when seeking healthcare, law enforcement, and social services (i.e., DV shelters, therapy services). Specifically, survivors cited long wait times, lack of follow-up, lack of provider engagement, and limited IPV resources offered by hospitals as contributing to negative help-seeking experiences. Such negative help-seeking experiences may be explained by overburdened hospitals and resources being redirected to COVID-19 patients, much like happened during the EVD epidemic (Korkoyah & Wreh, 2015; United Nations Development Programme, 2015).

Among survivors who sought help from law enforcement, negative experiences cited included being told to leave the relationship, they were almost arrested, they were arrested with their perpetrator, advised to go back to their home where IPV was occurring, could not receive a protective order because courts were closed, or were simply provided a list of DV shelters to contact. Prior research has linked limited or reduced law enforcement services stemming from

COVID restrictions (i.e., closed courts) to higher susceptibility of experiencing IPV (John et al., 2020; Sower & Alexander, 2021). Moreover, survivors who were told to leave their relationship, return home, were almost arrested, or were arrested with their perpetrator align with pre-COVID and COVID research documenting these issues as barriers to IPV help-seeking from police (Voth Schrag et al., 2021; Wolf et al., 2003).

Of the survivors who discussed gaps and barriers pertaining to DV shelter services during the pandemic, challenges pertaining to shelter living during the lockdown period echo results from other qualitative research suggesting a lack of support from shelters during COVID-19 exacerbated feelings of isolation stemming from a combination of strict shelter rules and stay-athome orders that mirror control or isolation tactics enacted by abusive partners (Ravi et al., 2021). Other identified DV shelter service gaps concerning long wait lists for DV classes, cancelled DV classes during shelter in place orders, a lack of virtual options for DV classes, a lack of accessible support groups, and long waiting lists for transitional housing reinforce the increased vulnerability of IPV survivors during COVID-19 due to shelter closures and reduced capacity (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Sower & Alexander, 2021).

Survivors' access of therapy services underscores the negative mental health repercussions of IPV, as well as mental health challenges identified throughout the pandemic (Huq et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021; Sabri et al., 2020). Additional therapy barriers identified, including termination of services due to insurance and cost barriers or lack of access to support groups, also reiterate findings demonstrating barriers to care prevent a large portion of Americans from accessing mental health services (Cohens Veterans Network & National Council for Behavioral Health, 2018).

Regarding identified barriers to IPV help-seeking during the pandemic, we recommend the following resources and supports to help survivors and improve IPV response during pandemics. First, service providers (i.e., law enforcement, health care, DV shelters) should have access to comprehensive, regularly updated IPV resource lists available to share with survivors. As some survivors noted lists they received only contained contact information for DV shelters, future lists should also contain information and contacts for crisis hotlines, general IPV resource providers (i.e., Georgia Coalition Against Domestic Violence), legal assistance, support groups, free or subsidized counseling, and child and family advocacy resources. Comprehensive resource lists serve as a highly feasible strategy to increase access to support services and facilities for survivors of IPV. Similarly, findings from this study suggest the importance of increasing awareness of IPV resources and support services. Therefore, governments, public health authorities and community advocates should allocate resources to disseminating IPV resources during COVID-19 and future public health emergencies. In conjunction with higher visibility of resources, we also recommend service providers incorporate virtual resources (i.e., support groups, DV classes, counseling) to supplement challenges associated with long wait lists for resources or cancellations of in-person services due to movement restrictions.

Since institutional level changes are less feasible in the immediate future, governments and public health authorities should allocate more resources and advocate for increasing the amount of temporary and transitional housing resources to address capacity gaps previously identified, as well as increase funding for free or subsidized mental health resources for survivors.

Furthermore, law enforcement and healthcare entities should expand the use of advocate services to mediate survivor interactions and ensure proper trauma-informed care and resource provision.

Taken as a whole, these findings suggest COVID-19 movement restrictions and social distancing measures amplify IPV, experiences of trauma, and resulting help-seeking experiences.

Exacerbated IPV rates and resource challenges documented by this study, COVID-19 research, as well as IPV research conducted during previous health emergencies (i.e., EVD epidemic) suggest that the interaction between IPV, movement restrictions, and help-seeking behaviors is not unique to COVID-19. Thus, this phenomenon and its impacts must receive serious

consideration when enacting movement restrictions during future pandemic response.

As the pandemic continues to threaten public health and safety, findings from this study can be leveraged to inform IPV response during this and other public health emergencies. Moreover, findings can also be used to inform future pandemic preparedness and response among IPV and public health resources in Atlanta and the state of Georgia. The methods carried out in this study can be adapted for future research carried out in other areas of Georgia or the broader U.S. pertaining to IPV experiences during COVID-19 and perceptions of IPV survivors.

#### Limitations

There are several limitations to note for this study. Initially, the study aimed to recruit 30 survivors using the 2020 trauma registry from a large public hospital in Atlanta, Georgia. However, due to recruitment challenges, the research team expanded recruitment to IPV survivors from the metropolitan Atlanta community, resulting in a final sample of nine survivors. Recruitment challenges may be attributed to the hidden nature of IPV survivors and the sensitive topic of the study. Moreover, as with the nature of qualitative research, results cannot be generalized to the entire population of IPV survivors. Additionally, a majority of survivors identified as cisgendered, heterosexual, and Black or African American. Therefore, we are missing perspectives from other racial, gender, and sexual identities. Although the codebook was

created collaboratively with the entire research team, there was only one coder for data analysis. Additionally, there is potential sample bias, as we only interviewed survivors who sought IPV services during the early months of the pandemic. Therefore, we are missing perspectives of IPV survivors who did not seek support services or resources during this time period or those who did not seek services at all. As such, findings from this study should be complemented by expanding data collection to incorporate more voices from IPV survivors in Georgia and other regions of the U.S.

## **Conclusions**

Since the beginning of the pandemic, cross-sectional and anecdotal evidence have documented surges in IPV and IPV help-seeking among survivors worldwide (Davis et al., 2020; D. P. Evans et al., 2020; Leslie & Wilson, 2020; McCrary & Sanga, 2021; McLay, 2021; Mohler et al., 2020; Piquero et al., 2020). While a broad range of research examining COVID-19 and IPV has emerged in the past year, several systematic reviews point to increases in IPV and DV, especially during lockdown and social distancing periods (Bazyar et al., 2021; Kourti et al., 2021; Lausi et al., 2021). As movement restrictions and social distancing practices lift, the long-term effects of IPV during COVID-19 are still unknown. This study addresses the gap in knowledge about IPV survivors' perceptions of COVID-19 movement restrictions (i.e., shelter-in-place, quarantine, isolation orders) and their effects on traumatic injury and help-seeking behaviors. Findings from this study contextualize survivors' experiences of IPV during the COVID-19 pandemic, facilitators of IPV experiences during COVID-19, facilitators and barriers to seeking IPV resources during the pandemic, changes in experiences of IPV from before and during the pandemic, as well as resources needed to improve IPV response during public health emergencies. Documenting and comprehending survivors' experiences and perceptions offers a

means to explore the connection between COVID-19 and IPV. Such an understanding may result in improved IPV prevention and response tactics implemented during this pandemic, as well as future health emergencies.

**Table 1. Survivor Demographic Information** 

Characteristics	Overall N=9
Age in years, mean (SD)	39.1 (13.96)
Gender, n (%)	
Female	7 (77.7)
Male	1 (11.1)
Non-binary	1 (11.1)
Race, n (%)	
Black or African American	7 (77.7)
White	1 (11.1)
Mixed (Indigenous/White)	1 (11.1)
Children, n (%)	
Yes	5 (55.5)
No	4 (44.4)
Relationship Status at time of Interview, n (%)	
Single	5 (55.5)
Married	2 (22.2)
In a Relationship	1 (11.1)
Separated	1 (11.1)
2020 Insurance Status, n (%)	
Private Plan	4 (44.4)
Medicaid	3 (33.3)
Uninsured	2 (22.2)
<b>Employment Status at time of interview, n (%)</b>	
Full-time	5 (55.5)
Part-time	2 (22.2)
Unemployed	2 (22.2)
Primary services sought following IPV, n (%)	
Hospital	5 (55.5)
DV Shelter	2 (22.2)
Therapy	2 (22.2)
Knowledge of Atlanta- or Georgia-specific	
movement restrictions, n (%)	
Yes	6 (66.6)
No	3 (33.3)

## **Chapter 5: Public Health Implications**

## *Implications*

The purpose of this study was to understand the impacts of COVID-19, including the impacts of movement restrictions (i.e., shelter in place orders, quarantine, isolation orders), on experiences of IPV from the perspective of survivors. Since the beginning of the pandemic, cross-sectional and anecdotal evidence have documented surges in IPV and IPV help-seeking behaviors among survivors (Davis et al., 2020; D. P. Evans et al., 2020; Leslie & Wilson, 2020; McCrary & Sanga, 2021; McLay, 2021; Mohler et al., 2020; Piquero et al., 2020). Consequently, understanding the impact of COVID movement restrictions on survivors' experiences of IPV and their help-seeking behaviors is imperative for providing appropriate support and resources. Negative help-seeking experiences and gaps in IPV services identified by these survivors can be incorporated into current and future practice, recommendations, resources, and services as the COVID-19 pandemic evolves and future public health emergencies emerge.

Survivors discussed a variety of trauma experiences resulting from IPV and how COVID-19 movement restrictions impacted their experiences and help-seeking behaviors. All survivors discussed relationship challenges that were amplified by either movement restrictions or consequences of COVID-19. Some survivors attributed COVID relationship challenges and subsequent IPV to increased substance use, bolstering findings from other qualitative research conducted during the pandemic, which linked increased severity and incidences of IPV with increased alcohol consumption (Huq et al., 2021). Other survivors drew connections between COVID-19 movement restrictions and their partner's control or abuse tactics. For those survivors, movement restrictions (i.e., shelter-in-place orders, school closures, curfews) trapped them with their abusers by creating isolating environments, which may have exacerbated

coercive control and other abuse tactics (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Rieger et al., 2021; Sower & Alexander, 2021). Survivors also indicated increased financial or life stressors resulting from COVID featured as prominent components in their IPV experiences. This may be explained by other COVID-19 research connecting lockdown and economic stress factors to increases in IPV, suggesting lifted movement restrictions will not decrease IPV and DV due to continued economic stress fueled by the pandemic (Arenas-Arroyo et al., 2021; Bazyar et al., 2021; Jetelina et al., 2021; Lausi et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021). Notably, survivors attributed these COVID-related relationship challenges to higher recurrences of arguments or fights, which often preceded episodes of IPV, reinforcing preliminary evidence pointing to increases in IPV and DV, especially during lockdown and social distancing periods (Bazyar et al., 2021; Kourti et al., 2021; Lausi et al., 2021).

COVID-19 created an alternative reality discussed by survivors as stemming from unemployment, remote work environments, movement restrictions, and social distancing measures, allowing intimate partners to spend more time with each other than they might have pre-pandemic. The unique situation and environment created by the pandemic were described by survivors as impacting the trajectory of their relationships, both new and existing. Through discussion of their experiences, survivors indicated movement restrictions, social distancing measures, and the negative repercussions of the pandemic influenced their relationship challenges, as well as the occurrences of new or a higher frequency and/or severity of IPV episodes. Their experiences further bolster prior research suggesting the pandemic increases the likelihood of experiencing IPV and DV, especially during shelter in place orders (Arenas-Arroyo et al., 2021; Bazyar et al., 2021; Jetelina et al., 2021; Kourti et al., 2021; Lausi et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021).

Regarding help-seeking behaviors following IPV experienced during COVID, survivors discussed a plethora of gaps in services or negative experiences when seeking healthcare, law enforcement, and social services (i.e., DV shelters, therapy services). Specifically, survivors cited long wait times, lack of follow-up, lack of provider engagement, and limited IPV resources offered by hospitals as contributing to negative help-seeking experiences. Such negative help-seeking experiences may be explained by overburdened hospitals and resources being redirected to COVID-19 patients, much like happened during the EVD epidemic (Korkoyah & Wreh, 2015; United Nations Development Programme, 2015).

Among survivors who sought help from law enforcement, negative experiences cited included being told to leave the relationship, they were almost arrested, they were arrested with their perpetrator, advised to go back to their home where IPV was occurring, could not receive a protective order because courts were closed, or were simply provided a list of DV shelters to contact. Prior research links limited or reduced law enforcement services stemming from COVID restrictions (i.e., closed courts) to increased susceptibility of experiencing IPV (John et al., 2020; Sower & Alexander, 2021). Moreover, survivors who were told to leave their relationship, return home, were almost arrested, or were arrested with their perpetrator align with pre-COVID and COVID research documenting these issues as barriers to IPV help-seeking from police (Voth Schrag et al., 2021; Wolf et al., 2003).

Of the survivors who discussed gaps and barriers pertaining to DV shelter services during the pandemic, challenges pertaining to shelter living during the lockdown period echo results from other qualitative research suggesting a lack of support from shelters during COVID-19 exacerbated feelings of isolation stemming from a combination of strict shelter rules and stay-at-home orders that mirror control or isolation tactics enacted by abusive partners (Ravi et al.,

2021). Other identified DV shelter service gaps concerning long wait lists for DV classes, cancelled DV classes during shelter in place orders, a lack of virtual options for DV classes, a lack of accessible support groups, and long waiting lists for transitional housing reinforce the increased vulnerability of IPV survivors during COVID-19 due to shelter closures and reduced capacity (M. L. Evans et al., 2020; Sower & Alexander, 2021).

Survivors' access of therapy services underscores the negative mental health repercussions of IPV, as well as mental health challenges identified throughout the pandemic (Huq et al., 2021; Ravi et al., 2021; Sabri et al., 2020). Additional therapy barriers identified, including termination of services due to insurance and cost barriers or lack of access to support groups, also reiterate findings demonstrating barriers to care prevent a large portion of Americans from accessing mental health services (Cohens Veterans Network & National Council for Behavioral Health, 2018).

As the pandemic continues to threaten public health and safety, findings from this study can be leveraged to inform IPV response during this and other public health emergencies. Additionally, findings can also be used to inform future pandemic preparedness and response among IPV and public health resources in Atlanta and the state of Georgia. Results from this study also bolster the exacerbating impacts of COVID-19 and movement restrictions on experiences of IPV posited by prior research. Moreover, results confirm the need for programs, resources, and strategies to mitigate identified barriers to IPV help-seeking during public health emergencies or pandemics.

## Recommendations

The methods carried out in this study can be adapted for future research carried out in other areas of Georgia, or the broader U.S., pertaining to IPV experiences during COVID-19 and perceptions of IPV survivors. We also recommend conducting similar studies targeting a diverse

array of survivor perspectives, including racial, immigrant, refugee, sexual and gender minority identities. In tandem with survivor perspectives, future work should synthesize COVID-19 experiences of health care providers, law enforcement personnel, and IPV community organization personnel. From this work, interventions can be designed to identify IPV survivors presenting to health care or law enforcement entities in real-time and pair them with advocates or care coordinators to facilitate proper follow-up and on-going resource provision (i.e., legal assistance, therapy services, temporary housing). This is bolstered by the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force guidelines recommending health care providers screen women of reproductive age for IPV and refer those who screen positive to support services (Force, 2018). Regarding identified barriers to IPV help-seeking during the pandemic, we recommend the following resources and supports to help survivors and improve IPV response during pandemics. First, service providers (i.e., law enforcement, health care, DV shelters) should have access to comprehensive, regularly updated IPV resource lists available to share with survivors. As some survivors noted lists they received only contained contact information for DV shelters, future lists should also contain information and contacts for crisis hotlines, general IPV resource providers (i.e., Georgia Coalition Against Domestic Violence), legal assistance, support groups, free or subsidized counseling, and child and family advocacy resources. Comprehensive resource lists serve as a highly feasible strategy to increase access to support services and facilities for survivors of IPV. Similarly, findings from this study suggest the importance of increasing awareness of IPV resources and support services. Therefore, governments, public health authorities and community advocates should allocate resources to disseminating IPV resources during COVID-19 and future public health emergencies. In conjunction with higher visibility of resources, we also recommend service providers incorporate virtual resources (i.e., support

groups, DV classes, counseling) to supplement challenges associated with long wait lists for resources or cancellations of in-person services due to movement restrictions.

Since institutional level changes are less feasible in the immediate future, governments and public health authorities should allocate more resources and advocate for increasing the amount of temporary and transitional housing resources to address capacity gaps previously identified, as well as increase funding for free or subsidized mental health resources for survivors.

Furthermore, law enforcement and health care entities should expand the use of advocate services to mediate survivor interactions and ensure proper trauma-informed care and resource provision.

Taken as a whole, these findings suggest COVID-19 movement restrictions and social distancing measures amplify IPV, experiences of trauma, and resulting help-seeking experiences.

Exacerbated IPV rates and resource challenges documented by this study, COVID-19 research, as well as IPV research conducted during previous health emergencies (i.e., EVD epidemic) suggest that the interaction between IPV, movement restrictions, and help-seeking behaviors is not unique to COVID-19. Thus, this phenomenon and its impacts must receive serious consideration when enacting movement restrictions during future pandemic response.

## References

- Afifi, T. O., MacMillan, H., Cox, B. J., Asmundson, G. J. G., Stein, M. B., & Sareen, J. (2008). Mental Health Correlates of Intimate Partner Violence in Marital Relationships in a Nationally Representative Sample of Males and Females. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 24(8), 1398–1417. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260508322192
- Alfaro Quezada, J., Mustafa, Z., Zhang, X., Zakhary, B., Firek, M., Coimbra, R., & Brenner, M. (2020). A Nationwide Study of Intimate Partner Violence. *The American Surgeon*, 86(10), 1230–1237. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003134820964191
- Arenas-Arroyo, E., Fernandez-Kranz, D., & Nollenberger, N. (2021). Intimate partner violence under forced cohabitation and economic stress: Evidence from the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Public Economics*, *194*, 104350. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2020.104350
- Bazeley, P. (2021). *Qualitative data analysis: practical strategies* (Second edition). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Bazyar, J., Chehreh, R., Sadeghifar, J., Karamelahi, Z., Ahmadimazhin, S., Vafery, Y., & Daliri, S. (2021). Effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Intimate Partner Violence and Sexual Function: A Systematic Review. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, 1–6. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1017/S1049023X21000789
- Bell, S. A., & Folkerth, L. A. (2016). Women's Mental Health and Intimate Partner Violence Following Natural Disaster: A Scoping Review. *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, *31*(6), 648–657. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1017/S1049023X16000911
- Bergman, B., & Brismar, B. (1991). A 5-year follow-up study of 117 battered women. *American Journal of Public Health*, 81(11), 1486–1489. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.81.11.1486
- Beydoun, H. A., Williams, M., Beydoun, M. A., Eid, S. M., & Zonderman, A. B. (2016). Relationship of Physical Intimate Partner Violence with Mental Health Diagnoses in the Nationwide Emergency Department Sample. *Journal of Women's Health*, 26(2), 141–151. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2016.5840
- BioMed Central. (n.d.-a). *Submission Guidelines*. BMC Public Health. Retrieved January 16, 2022, from https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/submission-guidelines
- BioMed Central. (n.d.-b). *The COVID-19 pandemic and intimate partner violence: Call for Papers*. BMC Public Health. Retrieved January 16, 2022, from https://www.biomedcentral.com/collections/CovIPV
- Black, M., Basile, K., Breiding, M., Smith, S., Walters, M., Merrick, M., Chen, J., & Stevens, M. (2011). *National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2010 Summary Report*. https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/NISVS\_Report2010-a.pdf

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Breiding, M. J., Basile, K. C., Smith, S. G., Black, M. C., & Mahendra, R. (2015). *Intimate Partner Violence Surveillance: Uniform Definitions and Recommended Data Elements*.
- Breiding, M. J., Black, M. C., & Ryan, G. W. (2008). Prevalence and Risk Factors of Intimate Partner Violence in Eighteen U.S. States/Territories, 2005. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *34*(2), 112–118. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2007.10.001
- Breiding, M. J., Smith, S. G., Basile, K. C., Walters, M. L., Chen, J., & Merrick, M. T. (2014). Prevalence and characteristics of sexual violence, stalking, and intimate partner violence victimization--national intimate partner and sexual violence survey, United States, 2011. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. Surveillance Summaries (Washington, D.C.*: 2002), 63(8), 1–18. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25188037
- Capaldi, D. M., Knoble, N. B., Shortt, J. W., & Kim, H. K. (2012). A Systematic Review of Risk Factors for Intimate Partner Violence. *Partner Abuse*, *3*(2), 231–280. https://doi.org/10.1891/1946-6560.3.2.231
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021a). *Basics of COVID-19*. National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases, Division of Viral Diseases. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/your-health/about-covid-19/basics-covid-19.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021b, December 30). *United States COVID-19 Cases, Deaths, and Laboratory Testing (NAATs) by State, Territory, and Jurisdiction*. COVID Data Tracker. https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker/#cases\_deathsper100klast7days
- Clemens, P., Hietala, J. R., Rytter, M. J., Schmidt, R. A., & Reese, D. J. (1999). Risk of domestic violence after flood impact: Effects of social support, age, and history of domestic violence. *Applied Behavioral Science Review*, 7(2), 199–206. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1068-8595(00)80020-3
- Cohens Veterans Network, & National Council for Behavioral Health. (2018). *America's Mental Health 2018*. https://www.cohenveteransnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/Research-Summary-10-10-2018.pdf
- Davidov, D. M., Larrabee, H., & Davis, S. M. (2015). United States Emergency Department Visits Coded for Intimate Partner Violence. *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 48(1), 94–100. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2014.07.053
- Davis, M., Gilbar, O., & Padilla-Medina, D. (2020). Intimate Partner Violence Victimization and Perpetration among U.S. Adults during COVID-19: A Brief Report. *MedRxiv*, 2020.06.08.20125914. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.06.08.20125914

- Dearwater, S. R., Coben, J. H., Campbell, J. C., Nah, G., Glass, N., McLoughlin, E., & Bekemeier, B. (1998). Prevalence of Intimate Partner Abuse in Women Treated at Community Hospital Emergency Departments. *JAMA*, 280(5), 433–438. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.280.5.433
- DeGue, S., Fowler, K. A., & Calkins, C. (2016). Deaths Due to Use of Lethal Force by Law Enforcement: Findings From the National Violent Death Reporting System, 17 U.S. States, 2009-2012. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *51*(5 Suppl 3), S173–S187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.08.027
- Dekel, B., & Abrahams, N. (2021). "I will rather be killed by corona than by him...": Experiences of abused women seeking shelter during South Africa's COVID-19 lockdown. *PloS One*, *16*(10), e0259275–e0259275. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0259275
- Devries, K. M., Mak, J. Y., Bacchus, L. J., Child, J. C., Falder, G., Petzold, M., Astbury, J., & Watts, C. H. (2013). Intimate Partner Violence and Incident Depressive Symptoms and Suicide Attempts: A Systematic Review of Longitudinal Studies. *PLOS Medicine*, *10*(5), e1001439-. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001439
- Dutton, M. A., Green, B. L., Kaltman, S. I., Roesch, D. M., Zeffiro, T. A., & Krause, E. D. (2006). Intimate Partner Violence, PTSD, and Adverse Health Outcomes. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 21(7), 955–968. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260506289178
- Evans, D. P. (2020). COVID-19 and violence: a research call to action. *BMC Women's Health*, 20(1), 249. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-020-01115-1
- Evans, D. P., Hawk, S. R., & Ripkey, C. E. (2020). Domestic Violence in Atlanta, Georgia Before and During COVID-19. *Violence and Gender*, 8(3), 140–147. https://doi.org/10.1089/vio.2020.0061
- Evans, M. L., Lindauer, M., & Farrell, M. E. (2020). A Pandemic within a Pandemic Intimate Partner Violence during Covid-19. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *383*(24), 2302–2304. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp2024046
- Executive Order 03.14.20.01. (2020). https://gov.georgia.gov/document/2020-executive-order/03142001/download
- Executive Order 04.02.20.01. (2020). https://gov.georgia.gov/document/2020-executive-order/04022001/download
- Executive Order Number 2020-21. (2020). https://www.atlantaga.gov/Home/ShowDocument?id=45508
- Falb, K. L., McCormick, M. C., Hemenway, D., Anfinson, K., & Silverman, J. G. (2013). Violence against refugee women along the Thai–Burma border. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 120(3), 279–283. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2012.10.015

- Force, U. S. P. S. T. (2018). Screening for Intimate Partner Violence, Elder Abuse, and Abuse of Vulnerable Adults: US Preventive Services Task Force Final Recommendation Statement. *JAMA*, *320*(16), 1678–1687. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.14741
- Frank, P., Iob, E., Steptoe, A., & Fancourt, D. (2020). Trajectories of depressive symptoms among vulnerable groups in the UK during the COVID-19 pandemic. *MedRxiv*, 2020.06.09.20126300. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.06.09.20126300
- Fugate, M., Landis, L., Riordan, K., Naureckas, S., & Engel, B. (2005). Barriers to Domestic Violence Help Seeking: Implications for Intervention. *Violence Against Women*, *11*(3), 290–310. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801204271959
- Garcia-Moreno, C., Sardinha, L., Maheu-Giroux, M., Stockl, H., & Meyer, S. (2021). Violence against women prevalence estimates, 2018: global, regional and national prevalence estimates for intimate partner violence against women and global and regional prevalence estimates for non-partner sexual violence against women.
- Georgia Coalition Against Domestic Violence. (2020). 2020 Annual Report. https://content.gcadv.org/content/uploads/20210525082409/2020-Annual-Report.pdf
- Georgia Department of Public Health. (2021, December 31). *Georgia Department of Public Health Daily Status Report*. COVID-19 Daily Status Report. https://dph.georgia.gov/covid-19-daily-status-report
- Golding, J. M. (1999). Intimate Partner Violence as a Risk Factor for Mental Disorders: A Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Family Violence*, *14*(2), 99–132. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022079418229
- Gracia, E. (2004). Unreported cases of domestic violence against women: towards an epidemiology of social silence, tolerance, and inhibition. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 58(7), 536. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2003.019604
- Happy Scribe. (n.d.). *Happy Scribe Automatic Transcription Software*. Happy Scribe. https://www.happyscribe.com/automatic-transcription-software
- Harville, E. W., Taylor, C. A., Tesfai, H., Xiong, X., & Buekens, P. (2010). Experience of Hurricane Katrina and Reported Intimate Partner Violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 26(4), 833–845. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260510365861
- Hendrix, E., Narasimhan, S., Ripkey, C., Zeidan, A., Smith, R. N., & Evans, D. P. (2021). Boiling water but there's no pop-off valve": Health care provider perceptions of the effects of COVID-19 on Intimate Partner Violence [Manuscript submitted for publication].
- Holland, K. M., Jones, C., Vivolo-Kantor, A. M., Idaikkadar, N., Zwald, M., Hoots, B., Yard, E., D'Inverno, A., Swedo, E., Chen, M. S., Petrosky, E., Board, A., Martinez, P., Stone, D. M., Law, R., Coletta, M. A., Adjemian, J., Thomas, C., Puddy, R. W., ... Houry, D. (2021). Trends in US Emergency Department Visits for Mental Health, Overdose, and Violence

- Outcomes Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 78(4), 372–379. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.4402
- Huq, M., Das, T., Devakumar, D., Daruwalla, N., & Osrin, D. (2021). Intersectional tension: a qualitative study of the effects of the COVID-19 response on survivors of violence against women in urban India. *BMJ Open*, *11*(9), e050381–e050381. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050381
- Jetelina, K. K., Knell, G., & Molsberry, R. J. (2021). Changes in intimate partner violence during the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic in the USA. *Injury Prevention*, 27(1), 93. https://doi.org/10.1136/injuryprev-2020-043831
- Jewkes, R. (2002). Intimate partner violence: causes and prevention. *The Lancet*, *359*(9315), 1423–1429. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08357-5
- John, N., Casey, S. E., Carino, G., & McGovern, T. (2020). Lessons Never Learned: Crisis and gender-based violence. *Developing World Bioethics*, 20(2), 65–68. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/dewb.12261
- Kelley, L. (2020, July 14). Who Bears Witness to a Hidden Epidemic? *New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/14/opinion/sunday/domestic-violence-coronavirus.html?
- Kelly, J. (2021, March 23). Coronavirus: Domestic abuse an "epidemic beneath a pandemic." *BBC News*. https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-56491643
- Khalifeh, H., Moran, P., Borschmann, R., Dean, K., Hart, C., Hogg, J., Osborn, D., Johnson, S., & Howard, L. M. (2015). Domestic and sexual violence against patients with severe mental illness. *Psychological Medicine*, *45*(4), 875–886. https://doi.org/DOI: 10.1017/S0033291714001962
- Khawaja, M., & Barazi, R. (2005). Prevalence of wife beating in Jordanian refugee camps: reports by men and women. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, *59*(10), 840–841. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2004.031625
- Khurana, B., & Loder, R. T. (2021). Injury Patterns and Associated Demographics of Intimate Partner Violence in Older Adults Presenting to U.S. Emergency Departments. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 08862605211022060. https://doi.org/10.1177/08862605211022060
- Korkoyah, D., & Wreh, F. (2015). *Ebola Impact Revealed: An Assessment of the Differing Impact of the Outbreak on Women and Men in Liberia*. https://www-cdn.oxfam.org/s3fs-public/file\_attachments/rr-ebola-impact-women-men-liberia-010715-en.pdf
- Kourti, A., Stavridou, A., Panagouli, E., Psaltopoulou, T., Spiliopoulou, C., Tsolia, M., Sergentanis, T. N., & Tsitsika, A. (2021). Domestic Violence During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Systematic Review. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 15248380211038690. https://doi.org/10.1177/15248380211038690
- Lausi, G., Pizzo, A., Cricenti, C., Baldi, M., Desiderio, R., Giannini, A. M., & Mari, E. (2021). Intimate Partner Violence during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Review of the Phenomenon

- from Victims' and Help Professionals' Perspectives. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(12), 6204. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18126204
- Lauve-Moon, K., & Ferreira, R. J. (2017). An Exploratory Investigation: Post-disaster Predictors of Intimate Partner Violence. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 45(2), 124–135. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10615-015-0572-z
- Leslie, E., & Wilson, R. (2020). Sheltering in place and domestic violence: Evidence from calls for service during COVID-19. *Journal of Public Economics*, 189, 104241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2020.104241
- Lipsky, S., Caetano, R., Field, C. A., & Larkin, G. L. (2005). Psychosocial and substance-use risk factors for intimate partner violence. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 78(1), 39–47. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2004.08.028
- Loder, R. T., & Momper, L. (2020). Demographics and Fracture Patterns of Patients Presenting to US Emergency Departments for Intimate Partner Violence. *JAAOS Global Research & Reviews*, 4(2). https://journals.lww.com/jaaosglobal/Fulltext/2020/02000/Demographics\_and\_Fracture\_Patterns\_of\_Patients.7.aspx
- Mak, S. (2020, April 6). China's Hidden Epidemic: Domestic Violence. The Diplomat.
- Mazza, M., Marano, G., del Castillo, A. G., Chieffo, D., Monti, L., Janiri, D., Moccia, L., & Sani, G. (2021). Intimate partner violence: A loop of abuse, depression and victimization. *World Journal of Psychiatry*, 11(6), 215–221. https://doi.org/10.5498/wjp.v11.i6.215
- McCrary, J., & Sanga, S. (2021). The Impact of the Coronavirus Lockdown on Domestic Violence. *American Law and Economics Review*, 23(1), 137–163. https://doi.org/10.1093/aler/ahab003
- McLay, M. M. (2021). When "Shelter-in-Place" Isn't Shelter That's Safe: a Rapid Analysis of Domestic Violence Case Differences during the COVID-19 Pandemic and Stay-at-Home Orders. *Journal of Family Violence*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-020-00225-6
- Mohler, G., Bertozzi, A. L., Carter, J., Short, M. B., Sledge, D., Tita, G. E., Uchida, C. D., & Brantingham, P. J. (2020). Impact of social distancing during COVID-19 pandemic on crime in Los Angeles and Indianapolis. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 68, 101692. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2020.101692
- Park, S., & Jeon, J. (2021). Social Abuse in Intimate Partner Relationships: A Hybrid Concept Analysis. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 15248380211013140. https://doi.org/10.1177/15248380211013140
- Peterson, C., Kearns, M. C., McIntosh, W. L., Estefan, L. F., Nicolaidis, C., McCollister, K. E., Gordon, A., & Florence, C. (2018). Lifetime Economic Burden of Intimate Partner Violence

- Among U.S. Adults. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *55*(4), 433–444. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.04.049
- Petrosky, E., Blair, J. M., Betz, C. J., Fowler, K. A., Jack, S. P. D., & Lyons, B. H. (2017). Racial and Ethnic Differences in Homicides of Adult Women and the Role of Intimate Partner Violence United States, 2003-2014. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 66(28), 741–746. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6628a1
- Petrosky, E., Ertl, A., Sheats, K. J., Wilson, R., Betz, C. J., & Blair, J. M. (2020). Surveillance for Violent Deaths National Violent Death Reporting System, 34 States, Four California Counties, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico, 2017. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. Surveillance Summaries (Washington, D.C. : 2002)*, 69(8), 1–37. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss6908a1
- Piquero, A. R., Riddell, J. R., Bishopp, S. A., Narvey, C., Reid, J. A., & Piquero, N. L. (2020). Staying Home, Staying Safe? A Short-Term Analysis of COVID-19 on Dallas Domestic Violence. *American Journal of Criminal Justice : AJCJ*, 1–35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-020-09531-7
- Plichta, S. B. (2007). Interactions Between Victims of Intimate Partner Violence Against Women and the Health Care System: Policy and Practice Implications. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 8(2), 226–239. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838007301220
- Ravi, K. E., Rai, A., & Schrag, R. V. (2021). Survivors' Experiences of Intimate Partner Violence and Shelter Utilization During COVID-19. *Journal of Family Violence*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-021-00300-6
- Reich, C. M., Jones, J. M., Woodward, M. J., Blackwell, N., Lindsey, L. D., & Beck, J. G. (2014). Does Self-Blame Moderate Psychological Adjustment Following Intimate Partner Violence? *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *30*(9), 1493–1510. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260514540800
- Rieger, A., Blackburn, A. M., Bystrynski, J. B., Garthe, R. C., & Allen, N. E. (2021). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on gender-based violence in the United States: Framework and policy recommendations. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*, No Pagination Specified-No Pagination Specified. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0001056
- Ross, J. R., & Foster, V. (2012). Battered women of interpersonal violence Psychological issues of shame, guilt, and self-blame [Capella University]. In *ProQuest Dissertations and Theses*. https://login.proxy.library.emory.edu/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/battered-women-interpersonal-violence/docview/1016162386/se-2?accountid=10747
- Sabri, B., Hartley, M., Saha, J., Murray, S., Glass, N., & Campbell, J. C. (2020). Effect of COVID-19 pandemic on women's health and safety: A study of immigrant survivors of intimate partner violence. *Health Care for Women International*, 41(11–12), 1294–1312. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399332.2020.1833012

- Schafer, J., Caetano, R., & Cunradi, C. B. (2004). A Path Model of Risk Factors for Intimate Partner Violence among Couples in the United States. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 19(2), 127–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260503260244
- Schrag, R. v, Leat, S., & Wood, L. (2021). "Everyone is Living in the Same Storm, but our Boats are all Different": Safety and Safety Planning for Survivors of Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 08862605211062998. https://doi.org/10.1177/08862605211062998
- Schumacher, J. A., Coffey, S. F., Norris, F. H., Tracy, M., Clements, K., & Galea, S. (n.d.). Intimate Partner Violence and Hurricane Katrina: Predictors and Associated Mental Health Outcomes. *Violence and Victims*, *5*, 588–603. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.25.5.588
- Smith, S. G., Fowler, K. A., & Niolon, P. H. (2014). Intimate Partner Homicide and Corollary Victims in 16 States: National Violent Death Reporting System, 2003-2009. American Journal of Public Health, 104(3), 461–466. https://login.proxy.library.emory.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=eih&AN=94411108&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Smith, S., Zhang, X., Basile, K., Merrick, M., Wang, J., Kresnow, M., & Chen, J. (2018).

  National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2015 Data Brief Updated Release.
- Snow Jones, A., Carlson Gielen, A., Campbell, J. C., Schollenberger, J., Dienemann, J. A., Kub, J., O'Campo, P. J., & Wynne, E. C. (1999). Annual and lifetime prevalence of partner abuse in a sample of female HMO enrollees. *Women's Health Issues*, *9*(6), 295–305. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1049-3867(99)00022-5
- Sower, E., & Alexander, A. (2021). The Same Dynamics, Different Tactics: Domestic Violence During COVID-19. *Violence and Gender*, 8, 154–156. https://doi.org/10.1089/vio.2020.0066
- st. Ivany, A., & Schminkey, D. (2016). Intimate Partner Violence and Traumatic Brain Injury. *Family & Community Health*, *39*(2). https://doi.org/10.1097/FCH.000000000000094
- Stark, L., & Ager, A. (2011). A Systematic Review of Prevalence Studies of Gender-Based Violence in Complex Emergencies. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 12*(3), 127–134. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838011404252
- Stene, L. E., Jacobsen, G. W., Dyb, G., Tverdal, A., & Schei, B. (2013). Intimate Partner Violence and Cardiovascular Risk in Women: A Population-Based Cohort Study. *Journal of Women's Health*, 22(3), 250–258. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2012.3920
- Tabaie, A., Zeidan, A. J., Evans, D. P., Smith, R. N., & Kamaleswaran, R. (n.d.). A Novel Technique for Developing a Natural Language Processing Algorithm to Identify Intimate Partner Violence in a Hospital Setting. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*.

- Taub, A. (2020, April 6). A New Covid-19 Crisis: Domestic Abuse Rises Worldwide. *New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/06/world/coronavirus-domestic-violence.html
- Trevillion, K., Oram, S., Feder, G., & Howard, L. M. (2012). Experiences of Domestic Violence and Mental Disorders: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLOS ONE*, 7(12), e51740-. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0051740
- UN Women. (n.d.). *The Shadow Pandemic: Violence against women during COVID-19*. UN Women. Retrieved February 19, 2022, from https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/infocus/in-focus-gender-equality-in-covid-19-response/violence-against-women-during-covid-19#campaign
- United Nations Development Programme. (2015). Assessing Sexual and Gender Based Violence during the Ebola Crisis in Sierra Leone.
- VERBI Software. (2021). MAXQDA 2022. VERBI Software. maxqda.com
- Viero, A., Barbara, G., Montisci, M., Kustermann, K., & Cattaneo, C. (2021). Violence against women in the Covid-19 pandemic: A review of the literature and a call for shared strategies to tackle health and social emergencies. *Forensic Science International*, *319*, 110650. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forsciint.2020.110650
- Voth Schrag, R. J., Ravi, K., Robinson, S., Schroeder, E., & Padilla-Medina, D. (2021). Experiences With Help Seeking Among Non–Service-Engaged Survivors of IPV: Survivors' Recommendations for Service Providers. *Violence against Women*, 27(12–13), 2313–2334. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801220963861
- Wako, E., Elliott, L., de Jesus, S., Zotti, M. E., Swahn, M. H., & Beltrami, J. (2015). Conflict, Displacement, and IPV: Findings From Two Congolese Refugee Camps in Rwanda. *Violence Against Women*, 21(9), 1087–1101. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801215590669
- Weitzman, A., & Behrman, J. (2016). Disaster, Disruption to Family Life, and Intimate Partner Violence: The Case of the 2010 Earthquake in Haiti. *Sociological Science*, *3*. https://doi.org/10.15195/v3.a9
- Wisner, C. L., Gilmer, T. P., Saltzman, L. E., & Zink, T. M. (1999). Intimate partner violence against women: do victims cost health plans more? *The Journal of Family Practice*, 48(6).
- Wolf, M. E., Ly, U., Hobart, M. A., & Kernic, M. A. (2003). Barriers to Seeking Police Help for Intimate Partner Violence. *Journal of Family Violence*, 18(2), 121–129. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022893231951
- World Health Organization, & London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine. (2010). *Preventing intimate partner and sexual violence against women: taking action and generating evidence*. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44350/9789241?sequence=1
- Wright, E. N., Hanlon, A., Lozano, A., & Teitelman, A. M. (2018). The Association Between Intimate Partner Violence and 30-Year Cardiovascular Disease Risk Among Young Adult

- Women. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *36*(11–12), NP6643–NP6660. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260518816324
- Wright, L., Steptoe, A., & Fancourt, D. (2020). How are adversities during COVID-19 affecting mental health? Differential associations for worries and experiences and implications for policy. *MedRxiv*, 2020.05.14.20101717. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.05.14.20101717
- Zeidan, A. J., Evans, D. P., Smith, R. N., Tabaie, A., & Kamelswaran, R. (n.d.). Estimating the Incidence of Intimate Partner Violence at an Urban Hospital Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic Using a Novel Natural Language Processing Algorithm [Manuscript submitted for publication].
- Zeppegno, P., Gramaglia, C., di Marco, S., Guerriero, C., Consol, C., Loreti, L., Martelli, M., Marangon, D., Carli, V., & Sarchiapone, M. (2019). Intimate Partner Homicide Suicide: a Mini-Review of the Literature (2012–2018). *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 21(2), 13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-019-0995-2
- Zero, O., & Geary, M. (2020). COVID-19 and Intimate Partner Violence: A Call to Action. *Rhode Island Medical Journal* (2013), 103, 57–59.